### Left-orderability of Dehn surgeries on knot complements

### A Dissertation Submitted to the Temple University Graduate Board

### in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

by Khanh Le May, 2022

Examining Committee Members:

Matthew Stover, Advisory Chair, Mathematics David Futer, Mathematics Samuel Taylor, Mathematics Allison Miller, Mathematics, Swarthmore College © by Khanh Le May, 2022 All Rights Reserved

#### ABSTRACT

Let M be a Q-homology solid torus. In this thesis, we give a cohomological criterion for the existence of an interval of left orderable Dehn surgeries on M. We apply this criterion to prove that the two-bridge knot that corresponds to the continued fraction [1, 1, 2, 2, 2j] for  $j \ge 1$  and the (-3, 3, 2j + 1)-pretzel knot admit an interval of left orderable Dehn surgeries. These two families of knots gives some positive evidence for a question of Xinghua Gao.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank first and foremost my advisor, Matthew Stover, for all the math and life lessons that he has taught me during my time at Temple. His patience, encouragement and generosity have helped me complete this thesis.

I want to thank my committee members, Dave Futer, Allison Miller and Sam Taylor for taking the time to read, correct and provide feedback and helpful comments on an early draft of this thesis.

Throughout my time at Temple, I have been fortunate to be a part of a supportive mathematical community that contributed significantly to my professional and personal development. I want to thank Rebekah Palmer for their friendship throughout the years and the fruitful collaborations both of which are undoubtedly the among best experiences I had in the graduate program. I want to thank Thomas Ng and Radhika Gupta for creating and fostering a lively mathematical environment at Temple. Their enthusiasm in mathematics has motivated me on my own mathematica journey. I want to thank Dave Futer, Sam Taylor, and Gerardo Mendoza for their mentorship. The conversations that I had with them have been very helpful during difficult and trying times. I want to thank Luca Pallucchini, Yilin Wu, Chia-Han Chou for taking caring of me when I felt ill. I want to thank Rosie Kaplan-Kelly, Ruth Meadow-Macleod, Brandis Whitfield, Leah Leiner, Rob Oakley, Katherine Burke, Delaney Aydel, Yi Wang, DB Choi, Ross Griebenow, and Dipika Subramaniam. Your companionship has provided a lively, enjoyable and supportive community at Temple.

I want to take this opportunity to thank my family for always being there for me. Con/Em xin cảm ơn ba Đờn, mẹ Xuyến, chị Ngọc va chị Giang đã hết lòng ủng hộ và giúp đỡ con/em trong bao nhiêu năm học tập và làm việc bên Mỹ. Finally, I want to thank my wife for her patience, love and constant belief. To my wife,

Ashley Ann Cole,

for her constant support.

# Contents

ABSTRACT				
A	CKN	OWL	EDGEMENTS	$\mathbf{v}$
D	EDIO	CATIO	N	vi
1	INT	ROD	UCTION	1
<b>2</b>	PRELIMINARIES			
	2.1	Group	Cohomology And $PSL_2$ -Representation Varieties	8
	2.2	Forma	l Deformation Of Representation	10
	2.3	From	Formal Deformation To Convergent Deformation	14
	2.4	Holonomy Extension Locus		17
		2.4.1	The Figure-8 Knot	20
		2.4.2	The Main Theorem	22
3	APPLICATIONS			
	3.1	The [1	[1, 1, 2, 2, 2j] Two-bridge Knots	31
		3.1.1	Group Presentation	31
		3.1.2	The Alexander Polynomial Of $K_j$	33
		3.1.3	The Group Cohomology $H^1(\Gamma(0); \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})_{\rho})$	35
	3.2	The (-	-3, 3, 2j + 1) – Pretzel Knot	39
		3.2.1	The Group Presentation	39
		3.2.2	The Alexander Polynomial Of $P_j$	41
		3.2.3	The Group Cohomology $H^1(\Gamma(0); \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})_{\rho})$	45

### BIBLIOGRAPHY

**48** 

viii

# List of Figures

2.1	The holonomy extension locus of the figure-8 knot	22
3.1	The link complement $L^2_{25}$	31
3.2	A twist region with $n$ positive half-twists	40
3.3	The $(-3,3,2j+1)$ -pretzel knot with a Seifert surface and its longitude .	41

# Chapter 1

# INTRODUCTION

A non-trivial group G is left-orderable if it admits a strict total ordering on the group elements such that g < h implies that fg < fh for all elements  $f, g, h \in G$ . By convention, we say that a 3-manifold M is left-orderable if and only if  $\pi_1(M)$  is left-orderable. Left orderability arises naturally in the study of low-dimensional topology, foliation theory, and group theory. Well-known examples of left orderable groups include torsion-free abelian groups, non-abelian free groups, surface groups and the group of orientation preserving homeomorphisms of the real line. In 3-manifold topology, left orderability is an important concept due to its role in the L-space conjecture.

**Conjecture 1.1** (The L-space conjecture). For an irreducible  $\mathbb{Q}$ -homology 3-sphere M, the following are equivalent

- (i)  $\pi_1(M)$  is left orderable.
- (ii) M is not an L-space.
- (iii) M admits a coorientable taut foliation.

An L-space is a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -homology 3-sphere with dim  $\widehat{HF}(M) = |H_1(M;\mathbb{Z})|$  where  $\widehat{HF}(M)$  is the Heegaard Floer homology of M [27, Definition 1.1]. A foliation  $\mathcal{F}$  of a 3-manifold M is a decomposition of M into 2-dimensional submanifolds locally

modelled on  $\mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}$ . A foliation of a 3-manifold M is said to be *taut* if for every leaf  $\lambda$  of  $\mathcal{F}$  there is a circle  $S^1_{\lambda}$  transverse to  $\mathcal{F}$  which intersects  $\lambda$  [7, Definition 4.25].

The equivalence between (i) and (ii) was conjectured in [4]. The equivalence between (ii) and (iii) was formulated as a question by Ozsváth and Szabó which was upgraded to a conjecture in a survey by Juhazs [23]. There has been a substantial amount of evidence in favor of Conjecture 1.1. For example, Conjecture 1.1 holds for all graph manifolds [3] and [17]. Recently, Dunfield has verified Conjecture 1.1 for at least 191,089 hyperbolic Q-homology spheres [14, Theorem 1.6].

In view of Conjecture 1.1, there have been a lot of ideas developed to study left orderability of 3-manifold groups. It is a well-known fact that a countable group is left orderable if and only if it embeds in the group of orientation-preserving homeomorphisms of the real line [16, Theorem 6.8]. In the case of an irreducible compact 3-manifold, its fundamental group is left orderable if and only if it admits a nontrivial homomorphism onto a left orderable group [5, Theorem 1.1]. In particular, all 3-manifolds with positive first Betti number are left orderable. Therefore, it is interesting to construct left orders on Q-homology spheres, for example those constructed by Dehn filling on and from taking cyclic branched covers of a Q-homology solid torus.

A fruitful way to build left-orderings on  $\mathbb{Q}$ -homology spheres is by lifting  $PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$ representations to  $\widetilde{PSL}_2(\mathbb{R})$ . This strategy has been employed with a lot of success, for example see [29, 30, 22]. Recently, Culler–Dunfield and Gao, building on the work of Culler and Dunfield, have introduced the idea of using the extension locus of a compact 3-manifold with torus boundary M to order families of  $\mathbb{Q}$ -homology spheres arising by doing Dehn filling on M [9, 15]. Furthermore, they gave several criteria implying the existence of intervals of left orderable Dehn fillings on M. To state their results, we need the following definition:

**Definition 1.2.** A compact 3-manifold Y has few characters if each positive-dimensional component of the  $PSL_2(\mathbb{C})$ -character variety X(Y) consists entirely of characters of reducible representations. An irreducible  $\mathbb{Q}$ -homology solid torus M is called longitudinally rigid when M(0) has few characters where M(0) is the closed manifold obtained from M by doing Dehn filling along the homological longitude.

We summarize their results in the following:

**Theorem 1.3** ([9, Theorem 7.1] and [15, Theorem 5.1]). Suppose that M is a longitudinally rigid irreducible  $\mathbb{Z}$ -homology solid torus. Then the following are true:

- 1. If the Alexander polynomial of M has a simple root  $\xi \neq 1$  on the unit circle, then there exists a > 0 such that for every rational  $r \in (-a, 0) \cup (0, a)$  the Dehn filling M(r) is left orderable.
- 2. If the Alexander polynomial of M has a simple positive real root  $\xi \neq 1$ , then there exists a > 0 and a nonempty interval (-a, 0] or [0, a) such that for every rational r in the interval, the Dehn filling M(r) is left orderable.

**Remark 1.4.** In fact, their techniques also apply to the case where M is a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -homology solid torus with some further hypothesis on  $\xi$  in the first statement. The full version of the second statement is stated below in Theorem 2.20.

Culler and Dunfield also proved the following criterion for left orderability:

**Theorem 1.5** ([9, Theorem 1.4]). Suppose that M is a hyperbolic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -homology solid torus, whose trace field has a real embedding, then there exists a > 0 such that for every rational  $r \in (-a, 0) \cup (0, a)$  the Dehn filling M(r) is left orderable.

In view of Theorem 1.3, it is natural to ask when a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -homology solid torus is longitudinally rigid. Since the character variety is notoriously hard to compute, (see for example [2, 8]), longitudinal rigidity is difficult to study in a general setting. Culler and Dunfield gave a topological condition which implies longitudinal rigidity. In particular, they introduced the following concept:

**Definition 1.6.** Let M be a knot exterior in a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -homology sphere. We say that M is lean if the longitudinal Dehn filling M(0) is prime and every closed essential surface in M(0) is a fiber in a fibration over  $S^1$ . For example, the (-2, 3, 2s + 1)-pretzel knots were shown to be lean for  $s \ge 3$ , so there is an interval of about 0 of left-orderable Dehn surgeries on these knot complements [26, Theorem 4]. However as remarked in [9, Section 1.6], this leanness condition is rather restrictive. In particular, for a knot complement K in  $S^3$  being lean implies that K fibers. Nevertheless, the first statement of Theorem 1.3 was proved to be true without the condition of longitudinal rigidity by Herald and Zhang [18, Theorem 1]. Motivated by the result of Herald and Zhang, Xinghua Gao asked:

**Question 1.7.** [15, Section 7] Can the longitudinal rigidity condition be dropped from the second statement of Theorem 1.3? Is it possible to prove that

$$H^1(\pi_1(M(0));\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_\rho) = 0$$

where  $\rho$  is the non-abelian reducible representation of  $\pi_1(M)$  coming from the root of the Alexander polynomial?

Following the suggestion in this question, we say that  $\mathbb{Q}$ -homology solid torus is locally longitudinally rigid at a root of the Alexander polynomial if

$$H^1(\pi_1(M(0));\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})_\rho) = 0$$

where  $\rho$  is a non-abelian reducible representation coming from this root, see Definition 2.25 for a precise definition. In fact, we prove that the second item of Theorem 1.3 still holds true under this weakened hypothesis.

**Theorem 1.8.** Suppose that M is an irreducible  $\mathbb{Q}$ -homology solid torus and that the Alexander polynomial of M has a simple positive real root  $\xi$ . Furthermore, suppose that M locally longitudinally rigid at  $\xi$ . Then there exists a > 0 and a nonempty interval (-a, 0] or [0, a) such that for every rational r in the interval, the Dehn filling M(r) is left orderable.

We will give a sketch of the proof of Theorem 1.8 to give some intuition behind the locally longitudinally rigid condition and to motivate the preliminary work in Chapter 2. For simplicity, let M be an exterior of a knot in  $S^3$ . To produce an interval of left-orderable Dehn surgeries on M, we show that there exists a path of representation  $\rho_t : \pi_1(M) \to \text{PSL}_2(\mathbb{R})$  such that:

- The entire path of representations lifts to a path  $\tilde{\rho}_t : \pi_1(M) \to \widetilde{\mathrm{PSL}}_2(\mathbb{R})$ .
- The representations  $\tilde{\rho}_t$  factor through  $\pi_1(M(r))$  for r in some interval near 0.

The path of representations  $\rho_t$  is obtained from deforming non-abelian reducible representations of  $\pi_1(M)$ . These non-abelian reducible representations are parametrized by the roots of the Alexander polynomial of the knot [6, 12]. The deformation theory of these representations over  $\mathbb{C}$  has been studied in [20, 21]. We will use and adapt the work from [20, 21] to show that in fact when a root of the Alexander polynomial is simple, a path of real representations  $\rho_t$  starting from the corresponding non-abelian reducible representation exists. Moreover, this path of representations  $\rho_t$  is tranverse to the orbit of the non-abelian reducible representation under the conjugation action of  $PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$ . Since the non-abelian reducible representation lifts to  $PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$ , the path  $\rho_t$  lifts to a path  $\tilde{\rho}_t$ . To show that the representations  $\tilde{\rho}_t$  factor through  $\pi_1(M(r))$ for r in some interval near 0, we project this path to  $H^1(\partial M; \mathbb{R})$  and get a path in the holonomy extension locus as defined in [15]. The intersection points between the holonomy extension locus and the lines with rational slope going through the origin in  $H^1(\partial M; \mathbb{R})$  corresponds to left-orderable Dehn surgeries [15]. Finally, we need to ensure that the path in the holonomy extension locus on  $H^1(\partial M; \mathbb{R})$  is not contained in the horizontal axis, which corresponds to representations factoring through  $\pi_1(M(0))$ . In contrast, we would like to see that the path in the holonomy extension locus on  $H^1(\partial M; \mathbb{R})$  is transverse to the horizontal axis. The locally longitudinally rigid condition is a transversality condition. In particular, locally longitudinally rigidity implies that all representations in the neighborhood in  $\operatorname{Hom}(\pi_1(M(0)); \operatorname{PSL}_2(\mathbb{R}))$ of the non-abelian reducible representation must all be conjugate to the non-abelian reducible representation [31]. Since the path  $\rho_t$  is transverse to the orbit of the nonabelian reducible representation, locally longitudinally rigidity implies that the path in the holonomy extension locus must be transverse to the horizontal axis as well. This gives us the existence of an interval of left-orderable Dehn surgeries near 0.

As an application, we apply this result to produce an interval of left orderable Dehn surgeries on an infinite family of two-bridge knot complements. **Theorem 1.9.** For every two-bridge knot  $K_j$  corresponding to the continued fraction [1, 1, 2, 2, 2j] where  $j \ge 1$ , there exists a > 0, possibly depending on j, and a nonempty interval (-a, 0] or [0, a) such that for every rational r in the interval, the Dehn filling M(r) is left orderable.

**Remark 1.10.** As we will see in Lemma 3.2, the Alexander polynomial of  $K_j$  has all simple positive real roots, and is not monic for  $j \ge 2$ . In particular, the complement of  $K_j$  is not lean for  $j \ge 2$ . Furthermore, the trace field of  $K_j$  for  $1 \le j \le 30$  has no real places, and it is likely that the trace fields of all knots in this family share this property. Therefore, Theorem 1.9 is not a direct consequence of Theorem 1.3 nor Theorem 1.5. The family of two-bridge knots [1, 1, 2, 2, 2j] is a genuinely new family of knots with an interval left orderable Dehn surgeries which cannot be obtained from prior techniques.

We will also investigate Question 1.7 among 3-generated knot groups. We provide further evidence to an affirmative answer to Question 1.7:

**Theorem 1.11.** Let  $P_j$  be the (-3, 3, 2j + 1)-pretzel knot where  $j \ge 1$ . Then the Alexander polynomial of  $P_j$  has the form

$$(\tau - 2)(2\tau - 1)$$

Moreover,  $P_j$  is locally longitudinally rigid at 2. Consequently, there exists a > 0, possibly depending on j, and a nonempty interval (-a, 0] or [0, a) such that for every rational r in the interval, the Dehn filling M(r) is left orderable.

The thesis is organized as follows. In Chapter 2, we start by recalling the work in [20] and [21] which is done for  $PSL_2(\mathbb{C})$ -representations and adapt them to  $PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$ -representations. In Section 2.4, we will also recall the construction and important properties of the holonomy extension locus from [15]. In Section 2.4.1, we illustrate the application of the holonomy extension locus to prove left-orderability of certain Dehn surgeries on a knot exterior using the example of the figure-8 knot complement. We will give a proof of Theorem 1.8 in Section 2.4.2. In Chapter 3, we will give the proof of Theorem 1.9 and Theorem 1.11. We note that Theorem 1.8 and Theorem 1.9 in the thesis appear in [24].

# Chapter 2

# PRELIMINARIES

In this chapter, we start by recalling the work in [20] and in [21] which studies nonabelian reducible representations in  $\text{Hom}(\pi_1(M); \text{PSL}_2(\mathbb{C}))$ , where M is a compact 3-manifold with torus boundary. We adapt these results to the real setting. In particular, we will use these results to construct a path of real representations starting at the non-abelian reducible representation.

To do this, we first consider the problem of constructing a representation into  $PSL_2(\mathbb{R}[[t]])$ , where  $\mathbb{R}[[t]]$  is the ring of formal power series, such that by specializing t = 0 we get the non-abelian reducible representation. The representation into  $PSL_2(\mathbb{R}[[t]])$  is called a formal deformation, see Definition 2.3. It turns out that the obstruction to constructing a formal deformation can be described by an infinite series of obstruction classes, see Proposition 2.8. Under the assumption that the root of the Alexander polynomial is positive and simple, we show that these obstruction classes vanish on the boundary torus and in fact vanish on the entire manifold, see Lemma 2.27. Therefore, we obtain a formal deformation of the non-abelian reducible representation. Using Theorem 2.10, we can convert a formal deformation into a path of representations, see Proposition 2.11.

Following our description of the work in [20] and in [21], we will recall the construction of the holomy extension locus in [15], see Definition 2.15, and the practical tool to prove left-orderability of Dehn surgery on the exterior of a knot, see Lemma 2.18. We will illustrate the application of Lemma 2.18 and the intuition behind the proof of Theorem 1.8 by using the example of the figure 8-knot complement Section 2.4.1. In Section 2.4.2, we will prove Theorem 1.8.

# 2.1 Group Cohomology And PSL<sub>2</sub>-Representation Varieties

We set  $G = \mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{R})$  and  $G_{\mathbb{C}} = \mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{C})$  throughout this thesis. For a compact manifold M and a group H, we let  $R_H(M) = \mathrm{Hom}(\pi_1(M), H)$  be the representation variety. When  $H = G_{\mathbb{C}}$ , we denote  $R(M) := R_{G_{\mathbb{C}}}(M)$ . Since  $\pi_1(M)$  is finitely generated, R(M) can be identified with an algebraic subset in some affine space  $\mathbb{C}^N$ . The group G acts on R(M) by conjugation. Let us consider the minimal Hausdorff quotient  $X(M) := R(M)//G_{\mathbb{C}}$  and the quotient map  $\pi : R(M) \to X(M)$ . Given a representation  $\rho \in R(M)$ , a character of  $\rho$  is the map  $\chi_{\rho} : \pi(M) \to \mathbb{C}$  defined by  $\chi_{\rho}(\gamma) = \mathrm{tr}^2(\rho(\gamma))$ . By [19, Theorem 1.3], there exists a bijection between between the points of X(M) and the characters of representations in R(M) such that the point  $\pi(\rho) = [\rho]$  corresponds to  $\chi_{\rho}$ . Therefore, we refer to X(M) as the  $\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{C})$ -character variety of M.

Let  $\Gamma$  be a group and  $\rho : \Gamma \to G_{\mathbb{C}}$  be a representation. The Lie algebra of  $G_{\mathbb{C}}$ can be identified with the set of trace-less 2-by-2 matrices over  $\mathbb{C}$ . Using the adjoint representation, the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})$  becomes a  $\Gamma$ -module by

$$\gamma \cdot v = \rho(\gamma) v \rho(\gamma)^{-1}.$$

We denote this  $\Gamma$ -module by  $\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})_{\rho}$ . The space of 1-cocycles is

$$Z^{1}(\Gamma; \mathfrak{sl}_{2}(\mathbb{C})_{\rho}) = \{ z : \Gamma \to \mathfrak{sl}_{2}(\mathbb{C}) \mid z(\gamma\gamma') = z(\gamma) + \gamma \cdot z(\gamma') \; \forall \gamma, \gamma' \in \Gamma \}.$$

Alternatively when  $\Gamma$  is a finitely presented group, we can also describe the space of cocycles as maps  $\Gamma \to \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})$  defined on a generating set that satisfy the group relations of  $\Gamma$ . In particular, suppose that  $\Gamma = \langle \gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_n | w_1(\gamma_i), \ldots, w_k(\gamma_i) \rangle$  is a finite presentation and that  $z(\gamma_i) = v_i \in \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})$ . Given any element  $w \in \Gamma$ , we can express w as a word  $w(\gamma_i)$  in the generators  $\gamma_i$ 's of  $\Gamma$ . The equation

$$z(\gamma\gamma') = z(\gamma) + \gamma \cdot z(\gamma') \quad \forall \gamma, \gamma' \in \Gamma$$
(2.1)

determines the image of z(w). This gives us a well-defined cocycle on  $\Gamma$  if and only if  $z(w_j) = 0$  for all relations  $w_j$  of  $\Gamma$ , see [31, Equation 4]. The space of 1-coboundaries is

$$B^{1}(\Gamma; \mathfrak{sl}_{2}(\mathbb{C})_{\rho}) = \{ b : \Gamma \to \mathfrak{sl}_{2}(\mathbb{C}) \mid \exists v \in \mathfrak{sl}_{2}(\mathbb{C}), \ b(\gamma) = (\gamma - 1_{\Gamma}) \cdot v \}.$$
(2.2)

Finally, the group cohomology is defined by

$$H^1(\Gamma;\mathfrak{sl}(\mathbb{C})_{\rho}) = Z^1(\Gamma;\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})_{\rho})/B^1(\Gamma;\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})_{\rho}).$$

**Definition 2.1.** Suppose that V is an affine algebraic variety in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . Let

$$I(V) = \{ f \in \mathbb{C}[x_1, \dots, x_n] \mid f(x) = 0 \quad \forall x \in V \}$$

be the vanishing ideal of V. Define the Zariski tangent space to V at p to be the vector space of derivatives of polynomials.

$$T_p^{Zar}(V) = \left\{ \left. \frac{d\gamma}{dt} \right|_{t=0} \in \mathbb{C}^n \mid \gamma \in (\mathbb{C}[t])^n, \gamma(0) = p \text{ and } f \circ \gamma \in t^2 \mathbb{C}[t] \; \forall f \in I(V) \right\}.$$

It was observed by Weil in [31] that for any Lie group H and  $\rho \in R_H(M)$  the Zariski tangent space embeds in the space of 1-cocycles  $Z^1(\pi_1(M); \mathfrak{h})$  where  $\mathfrak{h}$  is the Lie algebra of H. In particular, we have the following inequalities

$$\dim Z^1(\Gamma; \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})_{\rho}) \ge \dim T_{\rho}^{Zar}(R(\Gamma)) \ge \dim_{\rho} R(\Gamma).$$

**Definition 2.2.** We say that a representation  $\rho \in R(\Gamma)$  is a regular point if

$$\dim Z^1(\Gamma; \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})_\rho) = \dim_\rho R(\Gamma).$$

We say that a representation  $\rho \in R(\Gamma)$  is a smooth point if

$$\dim T_{\rho}^{Zar}(R(\Gamma)) = \dim_{\rho} R(\Gamma).$$

In particular, if a representation is a regular point then it is also a smooth point of  $R(\Gamma)$ .

### 2.2 Formal Deformation Of Representation

We will review some background materials on formal deformations of representations and integrability of cocycles. The concept of integrable cocycles will be important to building a certain path of representations required in the proof of Theorem 1.8, see also Lemma 2.27. For this discussion, let  $\Gamma$  be a finitely presented group,  $A_{\infty} := \mathbb{R}[[t]]$ be the ring of formal power series over  $\mathbb{R}$ , and  $G_{\infty} := \mathrm{PSL}_2(A_{\infty})$ .

**Definition 2.3.** Let  $\rho : \Gamma \to G$  be a representation. A formal deformation of  $\rho$  is a representation  $\rho_{\infty} : \Gamma \to G_{\infty}$  such that  $\rho = p_0 \circ \rho_{\infty}$  where  $p_0 : G_{\infty} \to G$  is the homomorphism induced by evaluating the formal power series at t = 0.

For any formal deformation  $\rho_{\infty}: \Gamma \to G_{\infty}$  of  $\rho$ , we can write

$$\rho_{\infty}(\gamma) = \exp\left(\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} t^{i} u_{i}(\gamma)\right) \rho(\gamma)$$
(2.3)

where  $u_i: \Gamma \to \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_\rho$  is in  $C^1(\Gamma; \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_\rho)$ . We observe that

**Lemma 2.4.** The function  $u_1 : \Gamma \to \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})$  defines a cocycle on  $\Gamma$ .

**Proof.** Let  $\gamma, \gamma' \in \Gamma$  be any two elements. Since  $\rho_{\infty} : \Gamma \to G_{\infty}$  is a group homomorphism, we have  $\rho_{\infty}(\gamma\gamma') = \rho_{\infty}(\gamma)\rho_{\infty}(\gamma')$ , or equivalently,

$$\exp\left(\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} t^{i} u_{i}(\gamma \gamma')\right) \rho(\gamma \gamma') = \exp\left(\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} t^{i} u_{i}(\gamma)\right) \rho(\gamma) \exp\left(\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} t^{i} u_{i}(\gamma')\right) \rho(\gamma')$$

for all  $\gamma, \gamma' \in \Gamma$ . Applying  $\frac{d}{dt}|_{t=0}$  on both sides, we get

$$u_1(\gamma\gamma')\rho(\gamma\gamma') = u_1(\gamma)\rho(\gamma)\rho(\gamma') + \rho(\gamma)u_1(\gamma')\rho(\gamma')$$
$$= [u_1(\gamma) + \gamma \cdot u_1(\gamma')]\rho(\gamma)\rho(\gamma')$$

for all  $\gamma, \gamma' \in \Gamma$ . Therefore,  $u_1 \in Z^1(\Gamma; \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\rho})$ .

Conversely, we have the following definition:

**Definition 2.5.** A cocycle  $u_1 \in Z^1(\Gamma; \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\rho})$  is integrable if there exists a formal deformation  $\rho_{\infty}$  of  $\rho$  so that  $u_1$  is the linear term in Equation (2.3). In this case, we say that  $\rho_{\infty}$  is a formal deformation of  $\rho$  with leading term  $u_1$ .

Given a representation  $\rho: \Gamma \to G$  and a cocycle  $u_1 \in Z^1(\Gamma; \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_\rho)$ , the existence of a formal deformation of  $\rho$  with leading term  $u_1$  is equivalent to the vanishing of a series of obstruction classes in  $H^2(\Gamma; \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_\rho)$  [21, Proposition 3.1 and Corollary 3.2]. Before constructing this series of obstruction classes, we set up some notations. Consider the ring  $A_k := \mathbb{R}[[t]]/(t^{k+1})$  for  $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ , the Lie group  $G_k := \mathrm{PSL}_2(A_k)$ , and its Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}_k := \mathfrak{sl}_2(A_k) = \{\sum_{i=0}^k t^i X_i \mid X_i \in \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})\}$ . Note that  $G_0 = G$ and  $\mathfrak{g}_0 = \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})$ . Suppose that we have a representation

$$\rho_k: \Gamma \to G_k$$

then  $\mathfrak{g}_k$  becomes a  $\Gamma$ -module by letting  $\Gamma$  act on  $\mathfrak{g}_k$  via conjugation by  $\rho_k(\Gamma)$ . We will write  $\mathfrak{g}_k^{\rho_k}$  when we view  $\mathfrak{g}_k$  as a  $\Gamma$ -module. For every k > l, we have the following projection maps:

$$\pi_{k,l}: G_k \to G_l, \ \pi_k: G_{k+1} \to G_k, \ \text{and} \ p_k: G_\infty \to G_k$$

Let  $\rho : \Gamma \to G_0$  and  $u_i : \Gamma \to \mathfrak{g}_0$  for  $i = 1, \ldots, k$ . We can define a function  $\widetilde{\rho}_k := \widetilde{\rho}_k^{(\rho; u_1, \ldots, u_k)} : \Gamma \to G_\infty$  by

$$\widetilde{\rho}_k(\gamma) := \exp\left(\sum_{i=1}^k t^i u_i(\gamma)\right) \rho(\gamma).$$

For all  $j \ge 0$ , we get a function  $\rho_j := \rho_j^{(\rho;u_1,\ldots,u_k)} : \Gamma \to G_j$  given by  $\rho_j := p_j \circ \tilde{\rho}_k$ . Note that both  $\tilde{\rho}_k$  and  $\rho_j$  are not necessarily a homomorphism. The following lemma gives a necessary and sufficient condition to extend a homomorphism  $\rho_k$  to a homomorphism  $\rho_{k+1}$ . More precisely, we have

**Lemma 2.6** ([21, Lemma 3.3]). Given  $u_1, \ldots, u_{k+1} : \Gamma \to \mathfrak{g}_0$ , suppose that

$$\rho_k := p_k \circ \widetilde{\rho}_{k+1} : \Gamma \to G_k$$

is a homomorphism. Then  $\rho_{k+1} := p_{k+1} \circ \widetilde{\rho}_{k+1} : \Gamma \to G_{k+1}$  is homomorphism if and only if  $U_k : \Gamma \to \mathfrak{g}_k^{\rho_k}$ , defined by

$$U_k(\gamma) = u_1(\gamma) + 2tu_2(\gamma) + \dots + (k+1)t^k u_{k+1}(\gamma),$$

is a 1-cocycle.

**Proof.** The proof is similar to that of Lemma 2.4. The function  $\rho_{k+1}$  is a homomorphism if and only if

$$\widetilde{\rho}_{k+1}(\gamma)\widetilde{\rho}_{k+1}(\gamma') = \widetilde{\rho}_{k+1}(\gamma\gamma') \mod t^{k+2}.$$

We observe that:

$$\frac{d}{dt}\widetilde{\rho}_{k+1}(\gamma) = \frac{d}{dt}\exp\left(\sum_{i=1}^{k+1}t^{i}u_{i}(\gamma)\right)\rho(\gamma)$$
$$= U_{k}(\gamma)\exp\left(\sum_{i=1}^{k+1}t^{i}u_{i}(\gamma)\right)\rho(\gamma).$$

Applying  $\frac{d}{dt}$  on both sides, we get

$$U_k(\gamma)\widetilde{\rho}_{k+1}(\gamma)\widetilde{\rho}_{k+1}(\gamma') + \widetilde{\rho}_{k+1}(\gamma)U_k(\gamma')\widetilde{\rho}_{k+1}(\gamma') = U_k(\gamma\gamma')\widetilde{\rho}_{k+1}(\gamma\gamma') \mod t^{k+1}.$$

Since  $A_k = \mathbb{R}[[t]]/(t^{k+1})$ , the equality above is equivalent to

$$[U_k(\gamma) + \rho_k(\gamma)U_k(\gamma')\rho_k(\gamma)^{-1})]\rho_k(\gamma)\rho_k(\gamma') = U_k(\gamma\gamma')\rho_k(\gamma\gamma').$$

Since  $\rho_k$  is a group homomorphism, the equality above is equivalent to the condition that  $U_k : \Gamma \to \mathfrak{g}_k^{\rho_k}$  is a cocycle in  $Z^1(\Gamma; \mathfrak{g}_k^{\rho_k})$ .

In view of the above lemma, we have the following notation. Given a collection  $u_i: \Gamma \to \mathfrak{g}_0$  for  $i = 1, \cdots, k$ , we define  $\widetilde{U}_{k-1} := \widetilde{U}_{k-1}^{(u_1, \dots, u_k)}: \Gamma \to \mathfrak{g}_\infty$  by

$$\widetilde{U}_{k-1}(\gamma) = u_1(\gamma) + 2tu_2(\gamma) + \dots + kt^{k-1}u_k(\gamma).$$

For all  $j \ge 0$ , we have a function  $U_j := U_j^{(u_1,\dots,u_k)} := p_j \circ \widetilde{U}_{k-1}$ .

Now fix a homomorphism  $\rho : \Gamma \to G_0$ . Let  $\rho_k := \rho_k^{(\rho;u_1,\ldots,u_k)} : \Gamma \to G_k$  be a homomorphism. The existence of a cochain  $u_{k+1} : \Gamma \to \mathfrak{g}_0$  such that  $\rho_{k+1}^{(\rho;u_1,\ldots,u_{k+1})}$ is homomorphism is governed by an obstruction class in the second cohomology. Consider the following short exact sequence of  $\Gamma$ -modules

$$0 \to \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_\rho \xrightarrow{\alpha_k} \mathfrak{g}_k^{\rho_k} \xrightarrow{\pi_{k-1}} \mathfrak{g}_{k-1}^{\rho_{k-1}} \to 0$$

where  $\alpha_k(X) = t^k X$ . This short exact sequence induces the long exact sequence in cohomology

$$\cdots \to H^1(\Gamma; \mathfrak{g}_k^{\rho_k}) \xrightarrow{(\pi_{k-1})_*} H^1(\Gamma; \mathfrak{g}_{k-1}^{\rho_{k-1}}) \xrightarrow{\beta_{k-1}} H^2(\Gamma; \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\rho}) \to \cdots$$

Since  $\rho_k$  is a homomorphism,  $U_{k-1}^{(u_1,\ldots,u_k)} \in Z^1(\Gamma; \mathfrak{g}_{k-1}^{\rho_{k-1}})$  by Lemma 2.6. We can define an obstruction class as follows:

**Definition 2.7.** [21, Definition 3.4] Given  $u_1, \ldots, u_k : \Gamma \to \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})$  such that

$$\rho_k := \rho_k^{(\rho; u_1, \dots, u_k)} : \Gamma \to G_k$$

is a homomorphism. We define the following obstruction class:

$$\zeta_{k+1} := \zeta_{k+1}^{(u_1, \dots, u_k)} := \beta_{k-1}([U_{k-1}^{(u_1, \dots, u_k)}]) \in H^2(\Gamma; \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\rho}).$$

In particular, we have the following proposition from [21]:

**Proposition 2.8** ([21, Proposition 3.1]). Let  $\rho \in R_G(\Gamma)$  and  $u_i \in C^1(\Gamma; \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\rho})$  for  $1 \leq i \leq k$  be given. Suppose that we have constructed a representation

$$\rho_k := \rho_k^{(\rho; u_1, \dots, u_k)} : \Gamma \to G_k$$

given by

$$\rho_k(\gamma) = \exp\left(\sum_{i=1}^k t^i u_i(\gamma)\right) \rho(\gamma) \mod t^{k+1}.$$

There exists an obstruction class  $\zeta_{k+1} := \zeta_{k+1}^{(u_1,\ldots,u_k)} \in H^2(\Gamma; \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\rho})$  with the following properties:

1. There is a cochain  $u_{k+1}$  such that  $\rho_{k+1}^{(\rho;u_1,\ldots,u_{k+1})}: \Gamma \to G_{k+1}$  given by

$$\rho_{k+1}^{(\rho;u_1,\dots,u_{k+1})} = \exp\left(\sum_{i=1}^{k+1} t^i u_i(\gamma)\right) \rho(\gamma) \mod t^{k+2}$$

is a homomorphism if and only if  $\zeta_{k+1} = 0$ .

2. The obstruction  $\zeta_{k+1}$  is natural in the following sense: if  $f : \Gamma' \to \Gamma$  is a homomorphism then

$$f^* \rho_k^{(\rho; u_1, \dots, u_k)} = \rho_k^{(f^* \rho; f^* u_1, \dots, f^* u_k)}$$

is a homomorphism and  $f^*\zeta_{k+1}^{(u_1,...,u_k)} = \zeta_{k+1}^{(f^*u_1,...,f^*u_k)}$ .

Consequently, an infinite sequence  $\{u_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty} \subset C^1(\Gamma; \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\rho})$  defines a formal deformation of  $\rho$ ,  $\rho_{\infty} : \Gamma \to G_{\infty}$  via Equation (2.3) if and only if  $u_1$  is a cocycle and  $\zeta_{k+1}^{(u_1,\ldots,u_k)} = 0$  for all  $k \geq 1$ .

**Proof.** Since  $\rho_k$  is a group homomorphism, the function  $U_{k-1}^{u_1,\dots,u_k}$  is a cocycle by Lemma 2.6. Let  $\zeta_{k+1} = \beta_{k-1}([U_{k-1}^{(u_1,\dots,u_k)}])$ . Suppose that a cochain  $u_{k+1}$  exists so that  $\rho_{k+1}^{(\rho;u_1,\dots,u_{k+1})} : \Gamma \to G_{k+1}$  is a homomorphism. By Lemma 2.6,  $U_k^{(u_1,\dots,u_{k+1})}$  is a cocycle. Since  $\pi_{k-1} \circ U_k^{(u_1,\dots,u_{k+1})} = U_{k-1}^{(u_1,\dots,u_k)}, [U_{k-1}] \in \text{Im}((\pi_{k-1})_*)$ . By the long exact sequence of cohomology, we see that  $\zeta_{k+1} = 0$ .

In the other direction,  $\zeta_{k+1} = 0$  implies that there exists  $U_k \in Z^1(\Gamma; \mathfrak{g}_k^{\rho_k})$  such that  $\pi_{k-1} \circ U_k = U_{k-1}^{(u_1,\ldots,u_k)}$ . Therefore, there exists a cochain  $u_{k+1}$  such that

$$U_k = U_k^{(u_1,\dots,u_{k+1})}$$

and  $\rho_{k+1}^{(\rho;u_1,\ldots,u_{k+1})}$  is a homomorphism.

The naturality follows from the commutativity of the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} H^{1}(\Gamma; \mathfrak{g}_{k-1}^{\rho_{k-1}}) & \xrightarrow{\beta_{k-1}} & H^{2}(\Gamma; \mathfrak{sl}_{2}(\mathbb{R})_{\rho}) \\ & & & & & \\ f_{*} \downarrow & & & & \downarrow f_{*} \\ H^{1}(\Gamma'; \mathfrak{g}_{k-1}^{\rho_{k-1}}) & \xrightarrow{\beta_{k-1}} & H^{2}(\Gamma'; \mathfrak{sl}_{2}(\mathbb{R})_{\rho}) \end{array}$$

**Remark 2.9.** Proposition 2.8 was stated over  $\mathbb{C}$  in [21]. Since the construction of the obstruction  $\zeta_{k+1}$ , see [21, Definition 3.4], and the proof of Proposition 2.8 is purely homological, it remains true over  $\mathbb{R}$ .

# 2.3 From Formal Deformation To Convergent Deformation

We denote by  $\mathbb{R}{t} \subset \mathbb{R}[[t]]$  the ring of power series with positive radius of convergence. To construct a path of representations from a formal deformation, we need to obtain a *convergent* deformation from a formal deformation. The key ingredient is the following theorem of Artin:

**Theorem 2.10.** [1, Theorem 1.2] Consider an arbitrary system of real analytic equations

$$f(\vec{x}, \vec{y}) = (f_1(\vec{x}, \vec{y}), \dots, f_l(\vec{x}, \vec{y})) = 0$$

where  $f_1, \ldots, f_l$  are convergent series in the variables  $x_1, \ldots, x_m$  and  $y_1, \ldots, y_n$  for k, m, n non-negative integers. Suppose that  $\vec{y}(\vec{x}) = (y_1(\vec{x}), \ldots, y_n(\vec{x}))$  are formal power series without constant term such that  $f(\vec{x}, \vec{y}(\vec{x})) = 0$ . For any positive integer k, there exists a convergent series solution

$$\vec{y}^{*}(\vec{x}) = (y_{1}^{*}(\vec{x}), \dots, y_{n}^{*}(\vec{x}))$$

of  $f(\vec{x}, \vec{y}) = 0$  such that  $\vec{y}(\vec{x}) = \vec{y}^*(\vec{x}) \mod \mathfrak{m}^k$  where  $\mathfrak{m}$  is the maximal ideal of  $\mathbb{R}[[\vec{x}]]$ . **Proposition 2.11.** [21, Proposition 3.6] Let  $\rho_{\infty} : \Gamma \to G_{\infty}$  be a formal deformation of  $\rho : \Gamma \to G$ . Then for every  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , there exists a convergent deformation

$$\widehat{\rho}_{\infty}: \Gamma \to \mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{R}\{t\})$$

such that  $\widehat{\rho}_{\infty}(\gamma) = \rho_{\infty}(\gamma) \mod t^k$  for all  $\gamma \in \Gamma$ 

**Proof.** Let  $\Gamma = \langle S_1, \ldots, S_m \mid R_1, \ldots, R_\ell \rangle$  be a finite presentation. Since

$$\operatorname{PSL}_2(\mathbb{R}) \cong \operatorname{SO}_o(2,1) \subset \mathbb{R}^9$$

we can identify  $R_G(\Gamma)$  with an algebraic subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  for some integer n. Therefore, there exists a system of polynomial equations  $\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{x}) = \mathbf{0}$  such that

$$R_G(\Gamma) \cong V(\mathbf{F}) := \{ \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n \mid \mathbf{F}(\mathbf{x}) = \mathbf{0} \}$$

Without loss of generality, we may assume that the solution  $\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{0}) = \mathbf{0}$  corresponds to  $\rho$ . A formal deformation of  $\rho$  corresponds to a formal solution  $\mathbf{x}(t) \in \mathbb{R}[[t]]$ . By Theorem 2.10, for a given  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  there exists a convergent solution  $\mathbf{x}^*(t) \in \mathbb{R}\{t\}$  such that  $\mathbf{x}^*(t) \equiv \mathbf{x}(t) \mod t^k$ . This gives us a convergent deformation  $\hat{\rho}_{\infty}$  as desired.  $\Box$ Lemma 2.12. [21, Lemma 3.7] Let  $\rho \in R_G(\Gamma)$  be regular and let  $u_i \in C^1(\Gamma; \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\rho})$ be given such that  $\rho_k^{(\rho;u_1,\ldots,u_k)} : \Gamma \to G_k$  is a homomorphism. Then for every cocycle vin  $Z^1(\Gamma; \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\rho})$  there exists a cochain  $u_{k+1} \in C^1(\Gamma; \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\rho})$  such that

$$\rho_{k+1}^{(\rho;u_1,\dots,u_k,u_{k+1}+v)}:\Gamma \to G_{k+1}$$

is a homomorphism.

**Proof.** Since  $\rho$  is a regular point in  $R_G(\Gamma)$ ,  $\dim_{\rho}(R(\Gamma)) = \dim Z^1(\Gamma; \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\rho})$  and  $\rho$  is a smooth point of  $R_G(\Gamma)$ . Let V be the irreducible component of  $R_G(\Gamma)$  that contains the smooth point  $\rho$ . As in the proof of the previous proposition, we identify V with the vanishing set of a prime ideal in  $\mathbb{R}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$ . By [25, Corollary 1.20], V is locally cut out by a system of polynomials  $\mathbf{F} = (F_1, \ldots, F_r)$  such that the solution  $\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{0}) = \mathbf{0}$  corresponds to the representation  $\rho$  and ker  $D_{\mathbf{0}}\mathbf{F} = T_{\rho}R$ .

The representation  $\rho_k$  corresponds to a polynomial vector  $\mathbf{x}_k(t) \in (\mathbb{R}[t])^n$  of degree k such that  $\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{x}_k(t)) \equiv \mathbf{0} \mod t^{k+1}$ . The element  $v \in Z^1(\Gamma; \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\rho})$  corresponds to a vector  $\mathbf{v} \in T_{\mathbf{0}}(V)$ . To obtain a homorphism  $\rho_{k+1}$ , we want to find  $\mathbf{w}$  such that

$$\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{x}_k(t) + t^{k+1}(\mathbf{v} + \mathbf{w})) = \mathbf{0} \mod t^{k+2}.$$
(2.4)

Note that  $\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{x}_k(t) + t^{k+1}(\mathbf{v} + \mathbf{w})) = \mathbf{F}(\mathbf{x}_k(t)) = \mathbf{0} \mod t^{k+1}$ . We observe that

$$\frac{\partial^{k+1}}{\partial t^{k+1}}\bigg|_{t=0}F_i(\mathbf{x}_k(t) + t^{k+1}(\mathbf{v} + \mathbf{w})) = \sum_{j=1}^N \left.\frac{\partial F_i}{\partial x_j}\right|_{\mathbf{x}=\mathbf{0}}(v_j + w_j) + G_i$$

where  $G_i \in \mathbb{R}$ . Therefore, Equation (2.4) is satisfied if and only if

$$D_0 \mathbf{F}(\mathbf{v} + \mathbf{w}) = -\mathbf{G}$$

where  $\mathbf{G} = (G_1, \ldots, G_N)$  and  $D_0 \mathbf{F}$  is the Jacobian of  $\mathbf{F}$  at **0**. Since

$$\mathbf{v} \in T_{\mathbf{0}}(V) = \ker(D_{\mathbf{0}}\mathbf{F}),$$

the equation above is equivalent to

$$D_0\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{w}) = -\mathbf{G}.$$

Since **0** is a smooth point of  $V(\mathbf{F})$ , the Jacobian  $D_0\mathbf{F}$  is full rank. Thus, we can find **w** so that Equation (2.4) is satisfied. This gives us a representation

$$\rho_{k+1}^{(\rho;u_1,\dots,u_k,u_{k+1}+v)}:\Gamma \to G_{k+1}$$

as desired.

### 2.4 Holonomy Extension Locus

Now we recall some definitions and results about the holonomy extension locus from [15]. The group G acts on  $P^1_{\mathbb{C}}$  by Mobius transformation leaving  $P^1_{\mathbb{R}}$  invariant. Any nontrivial abelian subgroup of G either contains only parabolic elements and has one fixed point in  $P^1_{\mathbb{C}}$  or contains only hyperbolic or elliptic elements and has two fixed points in  $P^1_{\mathbb{C}}$ . Let  $\tilde{G} = \widetilde{\mathrm{PSL}}_2(\mathbb{R})$  be the universal covering group of G. The group  $\tilde{G}$  also acts on  $P^1_{\mathbb{C}}$  by pulling back the action of G. We say that an element  $\tilde{g} \in \tilde{G}$  is hyperbolic, parabolic, elliptic, or central if the image of  $\tilde{g}$  in G is hyperbolic, parabolic, elliptic, or trivial, respectively.

We denote by M a compact 3-manifold with a single torus boundary component and define the augmented representation variety  $R_G^{\text{aug}}(M)$  as follows. Since abelian subgroups of G act with global fixed points, we define the augmented representation variety  $R_G^{\text{aug}}(M)$  to be the subvariety of  $R_G(M) \times P_{\mathbb{C}}^1$  consisting of pairs  $(\rho, z)$  where z is a fixed point of  $\rho(\pi_1(\partial M))$ . Since the action of  $\tilde{G}$  on  $P_{\mathbb{C}}^1$  comes from pulling back the action of G, we can also define  $R_{\tilde{G}}^{\text{aug}}(M)$  to be the real analytic subvariety of  $R_{\tilde{G}}(M) \times P_{\mathbb{C}}^1$  consisting of pairs  $(\rho, z)$  where z is a fixed point of  $\rho(\pi_1(\partial M))$ . Similarly, we define  $R_{\tilde{G}}^{\text{aug}}(\partial M)$  to be the real analytic subvariety of  $R_{\tilde{G}}(\partial M) \times P_{\mathbb{C}}^1$  consisting of pairs  $(\rho, z)$  where z is a fixed point of  $\rho(\pi_1(\partial M))$ .

Given a hyperbolic, parabolic or central element  $\tilde{g} \in \tilde{G}$  with a fixed point  $v \in P^1_{\mathbb{C}}$ , let  $g \in G$  be the image of  $\tilde{g}$  and a be a square root of the derivative of g at v. Since elements of G can be viewed as orientation-preserving homeomorphims of  $S^1$ , an element  $\tilde{g} \in \tilde{G}$  is a lift of  $g \in G$  to the universal cover  $\mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$ . It follows that  $\tilde{G}$ acts on  $\mathbb{R}$  by orientation-preserving homeomorphisms. We have the following lemma from [16]

**Lemma 2.13.** [16, Section 5] Let  $\tilde{g} \in \tilde{G}$ . The following limit

$$\operatorname{trans}(\widetilde{g}) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\widetilde{g}^n(0)}{n}$$
(2.5)

exists. Consequently, trans :  $\widetilde{G} \to \mathbb{R}$  is a well-defined function on  $\widetilde{G}$ . Furthermore, trans is a homomorphism when restricted to abelian subgroups of  $\widetilde{G}$ . The function trans( $\widetilde{g}$ ) is referred to as the translation number of  $\widetilde{g} \in \widetilde{G}$ .

**Proof.** Let x > y be two real numbers and  $\tilde{f} \in \tilde{G}$ . We claim that

$$|\widetilde{f}(x) - \widetilde{f}(y) - x + y| < 2.$$

We write x = k + y' such that  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  and |y - y'| < 1. Since  $\tilde{f}$  is a lift of a homeomorphism of  $\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$ , we have  $|\tilde{f}(y) - \tilde{f}(y')| < 1$ . Therefore, we have

$$\begin{split} |\widetilde{f}(x) - \widetilde{f}(y) - x + y| &= |\widetilde{f}(y') + k - \widetilde{f}(y) - y' - k + y| \\ &= |\widetilde{f}(y') - \widetilde{f}(y) - y' + y| < 2 \end{split}$$

for any  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$  as claimed.

Let m, n be two positive integers. Applying the above inequality with  $\widetilde{f} = \widetilde{g}^n$ , we get

$$\left|\widetilde{g}^{mn}(0) - m\widetilde{g}^{n}(0)\right| = \left|\sum_{i=0}^{m-1} (\widetilde{g}^{(m-i)n}(0) - \widetilde{g}^{(m-i-1)n}(0) - \widetilde{g}^{n}(0))\right| < 2m.$$

Dividing both sides by mn, we get

$$\left|\frac{\widetilde{g}^{mn}(0)}{mn} - \frac{\widetilde{g}^n(0)}{n}\right| < \frac{2}{n}.$$

By a similar argument with the role of m and n switched, we have

$$\left|\frac{\widetilde{g}^{mn}(0)}{mn} - \frac{\widetilde{g}^m(0)}{m}\right| < \frac{2}{m}$$

Finally, we see that

$$\left|\frac{\widetilde{g}^n(0)}{n} - \frac{\widetilde{g}^m(0)}{m}\right| < \frac{2}{m} + \frac{2}{n}$$

which implies that  $\{\tilde{g}^n(0)/n\}$  is a Cauchy sequence. It follows that  $\operatorname{trans}(\tilde{g})$  exists.

It remains to verify that trans is a group homomorphism when restricted abelian subgroups of  $\widetilde{G}$ . Let  $\widetilde{g}$  and  $\widetilde{h}$  be two commuting elements in  $\widetilde{G}$ . We have

$$\operatorname{trans}(\widetilde{g}\widetilde{h}) - \operatorname{trans}(\widetilde{g}) - \operatorname{trans}(\widetilde{h}) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{(\widetilde{g}\widetilde{h})^n(0) - \widetilde{g}^n(0) - \widetilde{h}^n(0)}{n} = 0$$

since the numerator is uniformly bounded by 2.

We define

$$\operatorname{ev}(\widetilde{g}, v) := (\ln(|a|), \operatorname{trans}(\widetilde{g}))$$

where trans :  $\widetilde{G} \to \mathbb{R}$  is the translation number given by Equation (2.5) and *a* is the square root of the derivative at *v* of the action of  $\widetilde{g}$  on  $P_{\mathbb{C}}^1$ . An immediate consequence of Lemma 2.13 is that we get a group homomorphism

$$\operatorname{ev}(\widetilde{\rho}(-), v) : \pi_1(\partial M) \to \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{Z}$$

for  $\tilde{\rho} \in R^{\text{aug}}_{\tilde{G}}(\partial M)$  whose image in  $\tilde{G}$  is hyperbolic, parabolic or central. In other words, we can view  $\text{ev}(\tilde{\rho}(-), v)$  as an element of  $\text{Hom}(\pi_1(\partial M), \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{Z})$ . We are now ready to define the holonomy extension locus.

**Definition 2.14.** [15, Definition 3.2] Let  $PH_{\widetilde{G}}(M)$  be the subset of  $R_{\widetilde{G}}^{\mathrm{aug}}(M)$  whose restriction to  $\pi_1(\partial M)$  is either hyperbolic, parabolic or central. Consider the restriction map  $i^*: R_{\widetilde{G}}^{\mathrm{aug}}(M) \to R_{\widetilde{G}}^{\mathrm{aug}}(\partial M)$  induced by the inclusion  $i: \partial M \to M$ . Define  $\mathrm{EV}: i^*(PH_{\widetilde{G}}(M)) \to H^1(\partial M; \mathbb{R}) \times H^1(\partial M; \mathbb{Z})$  by

$$(\widetilde{\rho}, v) \mapsto \operatorname{ev}((\widetilde{\rho}(-), v)).$$

Definition 2.15. [15, Definition 3.3] Consider the composition

$$PH_{\widetilde{G}}(M) \subset R^{\mathrm{aug}}_{\widetilde{G}}(M) \xrightarrow{i^*} R^{\mathrm{aug}}_{\widetilde{G}}(\partial M) \xrightarrow{\mathrm{EV}} H^1(\partial M; \mathbb{R}) \times H^1(\partial M; \mathbb{Z})$$

The closure of  $EV \circ i^*(PH_{\widetilde{G}}(M))$  in  $H^1(\partial M; \mathbb{R}) \times H^1(\partial M; \mathbb{Z})$  is called the holonomy extension locus of M and denoted  $HL_{\widetilde{G}}(M)$ .

**Definition 2.16.** We call a point in  $HL_{\widetilde{G}}(M)$  a hyperbolic, parabolic, or central point if it comes from a representation  $\widetilde{\rho} \in PH_{\widetilde{G}}(M)$  such that  $i^*(\widetilde{\rho})$  is hyperbolic, parabolic, or central, respectively. We call points in  $HL_{\widetilde{G}}(M)$  but not in  $EV \circ i^*(PH_{\widetilde{G}}(M))$  ideal points.

To get concrete coordinates on the holonomy extension locus as well as the Dehn surgery space, let us pick a basis  $(\mu, \lambda)$  for  $H_1(\partial M; \mathbb{R})$  where  $\lambda$  is the homological longitude of M. In particular,  $\lambda$  is a generator of ker $(H_1(\partial M; \mathbb{Z}) \to H_1(M; \mathbb{R}))$ . We identify  $H^1(\partial M; \mathbb{R})$  with  $\mathbb{R}^2$  using the dual basis  $(\mu^*, \lambda^*)$ . Let  $L_r$  be the line through the origin in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  of slope -r where  $r \in \mathbb{Q} \cup \{\infty\}$ . In terms of the dual basis  $(\mu^*, \lambda^*)$ , the line  $L_r$  consists of linear functions that vanish on the primitive element  $\gamma$  representing the slope r in  $\pi_1(\partial M)$  with respect to the basis  $(\mu, \lambda)$ . The structure of the holonomy extension locus is summarized as follows:

**Theorem 2.17.** [15, Theorem 3.1] The holonomy extension locus

$$HL_{\widetilde{G}}(M) = \bigsqcup_{i,j \in \mathbb{Z}} H_{i,j}(M)$$

is a locally finite union of analytic arcs and isolated points. Each component  $H_{i,j}(M)$ contains at most one parabolic point and has finitely many ideal points. The locus  $H_{0,0}(M)$  contains the horizontal axis  $L_0$ , which comes from representations to  $\tilde{G}$  with abelian image.

The holonomy extension locus gives a tool to detect left orderable Dehn surgeries. We have the following lemma:

**Lemma 2.18.** [15, Lemma 3.8] If  $L_r$  intersects the component  $H_{0,0}(M)$  of  $HL_{\widetilde{G}}(M)$  at non-parabolic and non-ideal points, and assume that M(r) is irreducible, then M(r) is left orderable.

#### 2.4.1 The Figure-8 Knot

Lemma 2.18 is the main practical tool to produce an interval of left-orderable Dehn surgeries of a knot exterior. We will illustrate the application of this lemma in the case of the figure-8 knot by plotting  $H_{0,0}$  for the figure-8 knot. This example serves as the motivation for the proof of Theorem 2.20 and Theorem 1.8. The example first appeared in [4, Proposition 10].

Let M be the complement of the figure-8 knot and  $\Gamma = \pi_1(M)$  which has the following presentation

$$\Gamma = \langle a, b \mid aw = wb, \ w = ba^{-1}b^{-1}a \rangle.$$

We fix a peripheral subgroup of  $\Gamma$  generated by a and  $\ell = ba^{-1}b^{-1}aab^{-1}a^{-1}b$ .

Consider a  $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$ -representation of  $\Gamma$  given by

$$a \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} x & 1 \\ 0 & x^{-1} \end{pmatrix}, \quad b \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} x & 0 \\ y & x^{-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.6)

Using the group relation, we see that the assignment in Equation (2.6) defines a representation of  $\Gamma$  if and only if

$$x^{2}y^{2} + (x^{4} - 3x^{2} + 1)y - (x^{4} - 3x^{2} + 1) = 0$$
 and  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$ 

Or equivalently, we have

$$y(x) = \frac{-(x^4 - 3x^2 + 1) \pm \sqrt{(x^4 + x^2 + 1)(x^4 - 3x^2 + 1)}}{2x^2} \text{ and } x^4 - 3x^2 + 1 \ge 0.$$

The inequality  $x^4 - 3x^2 + 1 \ge 0$  holds in the intervals

$$(-\infty, -\frac{1+\sqrt{5}}{2}] \cup \left[\frac{1-\sqrt{5}}{2}, \frac{-1+\sqrt{5}}{2}\right] \cup \left[\frac{1+\sqrt{5}}{2}, \infty\right).$$

Note that  $\operatorname{tr}(\rho(a)) = |x + x^{-1}| < 2$  if and only if x belongs to the bounded interval above. In other words, the representation is hyperbolic on the peripheral subgroup of  $\Gamma$  if and only if x belongs to the two unbounded intervals. Viewing y as a function of x, we obtain two continuous families  $\rho_x$  of  $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})$ -representations of  $\Gamma$  that corresponds to each interval  $x \in (-\infty, -\frac{1+\sqrt{5}}{2}] \cup [\frac{1+\sqrt{5}}{2}, \infty)$  such that the restriction of  $\rho_x$  to the peripheral subgroup is hyperbolic. Since  $H^2(\Gamma; \mathbb{Z}) = H^2(M; \mathbb{Z}) = 0$ , the representations  $\rho_x$  lift to a family  $\tilde{\rho}_x$  of  $\tilde{G}$ -representations such that the restriction of  $\tilde{\rho}_x$  to the peripheral subgroup is hyperbolic or central. Since

$$\widetilde{\rho}_x(\langle a, \ell \rangle)$$

is contained in the upper triangular subgroup,  $(\tilde{\rho}_x, \infty)$  gives us a path in  $PH_{\widetilde{G}}(M)$ . Adjusting by an appropriate element of the center of  $\widetilde{G}$ , we may assume that the translation numbers of  $\tilde{\rho}_x(a)$  and of  $\tilde{\rho}_x(\ell)$  are zero. The path  $(\tilde{\rho}_x, \infty)$  projects under EV  $\circ i^*$  to a path in  $H_{0,0}(M)$  which is shown in Figure 2.1.

Figure 2.1 shows the plane  $H^1(\partial M; \mathbb{Z})$  which is identified with  $\mathbb{R}^2$  by choosing the dual basis  $a^*$  and  $\ell^*$ . In particular,  $a^*(a) = \ell^*(\ell) = 1$  and  $a^*(\ell) = \ell^*(a) = 0$ . Furthermore, the point  $(s, t) \in \mathbb{R}^2$  is identified with  $sa^* + t\ell^*$ . Under this identification, the path  $(\tilde{\rho}_x, \infty)$  is mapped to the path

$$(\log |x|, \log |z(x)|)$$

where z(x) is the top left entry of the matrix  $\rho_x(\ell)$ . The paths in blue and orange in Figure 2.1 correspond to different choices of y(x) when we construct  $\rho_x$ . The paths in  $H^1(\partial M; \mathbb{R})$  are asymptotic to the lines  $L_{\pm 4}$  which are shown as two dashed lines in Figure 2.1. By Lemma 2.18, we conclude that M(r) is left-orderable for  $r \in (-4, 4)$ .

**Remark 2.19.** Recent work of Zung showed that the Dehn surgery M(r) on the figure-8 knot exterior is left-orderable for all  $r \in \mathbb{Q}$  [32].



Figure 2.1: The holonomy extension locus of the figure-8 knot

#### 2.4.2 The Main Theorem

Using Lemma 2.18, Xinghua Gao gives a criterion in terms of the  $PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$ -character variety to produce an interval of left orderable Dehn surgeries around the 0-filling.

**Theorem 2.20.** [15, Theorem 5.1] Suppose that M is a longitudinally rigid irreducible  $\mathbb{Q}$ -homology solid torus and that the Alexander polynomial of M has a simple positive real root  $\xi$ . Then there exists a > 0 and a nonempty interval (-a, 0] or [0, a)such that for every rational r in the interval, the Dehn filling M(r) is left orderable. For completeness, we include the proof of this theorem. The key to the proof of Theorem 2.20 is to produce an arc in  $H_{0,0}(M)$  transverse to the horizontal axis. By construction, this arc does not contain any parabolic or ideal points. Theorem 2.20 then follows from Lemma 2.18. To construct an arc in  $H_{0,0}(M)$ , we start by deforming abelian representations coming from the roots of the Alexander polynomial into irreducible representations which is studied in [20]. In particular, let  $\xi$  be a simple positive real root of the Alexander polynomial and  $\alpha : \pi_1(M) \to \mathbb{R}_+$ , the multiplicative group of the real numbers, such that  $\alpha$  factors through  $H_1(M; \mathbb{Z})_{\text{free}} \cong \mathbb{Z}$  and takes a generator of  $H_1(M; \mathbb{Z})_{\text{free}}$  to  $\xi$ . We let  $\rho_{\alpha} : \pi_1(M) \to \mathbb{G}_{\mathbb{C}}$  be the associated diagonal representation given by

$$\rho_{\alpha}(\gamma) = \pm \begin{pmatrix} \alpha(\gamma)^{1/2} & 0\\ 0 & \alpha(\gamma)^{-1/2} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.7)

where  $\alpha(\gamma)^{1/2}$  is either square root. The condition on the root of the Alexander polynomial allows one to deform  $\rho_{\alpha} =: \rho_0$  into an analytic path of representations  $\rho_t : \pi_1(M) \to G$  where  $t \in [-1, 1]$ , see [15, Lemma 5.1]. Furthermore this path of representations has the following properties.

**Lemma 2.21.** [15, Lemma 5.1] The path  $\rho_t : [-1,1] \rightarrow R_G(M)$  satisfies:

- 1. The representations  $\rho_t$  are irreducible over  $G_{\mathbb{C}}$  for  $t \neq 0$ .
- 2. The corresponding path  $[\rho_t]$  of characters in  $X_G(M)$  is also a non-constant analytic path.
- 3. The function  $tr^2(\gamma)$  is nonconstant in t for some  $\gamma \in \pi_1(\partial M)$ .

**Proof of Theorem 2.20.** Let  $\rho_t$  be the path of representations from Lemma 2.21. Using this path, we can produce an arc in  $H_{0,0}(M)$  as follows. Since  $\rho_0$  factors through  $H_1(M;\mathbb{Z})_{\text{free}} \cong \mathbb{Z}$ , we can lift this representation to  $\tilde{\rho}_0 : \pi_1(M) \to \tilde{G}$ . Since the obstruction of lifting a representation from G to  $\tilde{G}$  is a continuous function on  $R_G(M)$  with value in  $\mathbb{Z}$ , it remains constant on each connected component of  $R_G(M)$ . Therefore, the obstruction of lifting a representation from G to  $\tilde{G}$  vanishes on the entire path  $\rho_t$ . We can lift the path  $\rho_t$  to a path  $\tilde{\rho}_t$  in  $R_{\tilde{G}}(M)$ . Adjusting  $\tilde{\rho}_0$  by the appropriate central element of  $\tilde{G}$ , we can assume that  $\operatorname{trans}(\tilde{\rho}_0(\mu)) = 0$ . Since the image of  $\rho_0$  is upper triangular and the image  $\rho_0(\lambda)$  is trivial, we can choose a lift of  $\rho_0$  such that  $\operatorname{trans}(\tilde{\rho}_0(\lambda)) = 0$ . Therefore,  $\tilde{\rho}_0$  is mapped to a point on the horizontal axis of  $H_{0,0}(M)$ . Since  $\xi \neq 1$ , the *x*-coordinate of  $\tilde{\rho}_0$ ,  $\ln(|\xi|)$ , is nonzero.

Let k be the index of  $[\mu]$  in  $H_1(M; \mathbb{Z})_{\text{free}}$  and  $\xi$  be the positive real root of the Alexander polynomial that corresponds to  $\rho_0$ , see Remark 2.22. We have

$$\operatorname{tr}^2(\rho_0(\mu)) = \xi^k + 2 + \xi^{-k} > 4.$$

Therefore,  $\rho_0(\mu)$  is hyperbolic and so is  $\tilde{\rho}_0(\mu)$ . This implies that the image of the abelian subgroup  $\langle \mu, \lambda \rangle$  under  $\tilde{\rho}_0$  contains only hyperbolic elements and that  $\tilde{\rho}_0$  is in  $PH_{\tilde{G}}(M)$ . Since being hyperbolic is an open condition, there exists  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that  $\tilde{\rho}_t \in PH_{\tilde{G}}(M)$  for all  $t \in [-\varepsilon, \varepsilon]$ . The path  $\tilde{\rho}_t$  restricted to  $[-\varepsilon, \varepsilon]$  projects to a path A in  $H_{0,0}(M)$ . The projection A must be non-constant since  $[\rho_t]$  is a non-constant path on the character variety  $X_G(M)$ .

Finally, we use the hypothesis that M is longitudinally rigid to argue that A is not contained in the horizontal axis of  $H_{0,0}(M)$ . If A is contained in  $L_0$ , then  $\ln |a| = 0$ where a is the eigenvalue of  $\rho_t(\lambda)$ . Since  $\rho_t(\lambda)$  is either hyperbolic or trivial, we must have  $\rho_t(\lambda)$  is trivial in G. Therefore, the representation  $\rho_t$  factors through M(0). We get a non-constant path  $[\rho_t]$  in X(M(0)) of irreducible characters when  $t \neq 0$ . However, this contradicts the assumption that M is longitudinally rigid.

**Remark 2.22.** We note that k is not necessarily 1 in this case. Here,  $\lambda$  is a generator of ker $(H_1(\partial M; \mathbb{Z}) \rightarrow H_1(M; \mathbb{R}))$ . In particular,  $\lambda$  can represent a torsion class of order  $k \geq 1$  in  $H_1(M; \mathbb{Z})$  where k = 1 means that  $[\lambda] = 0$  in  $H_1(M; \mathbb{Z})$ . The generator of

$$H_2(M; \partial M; \mathbb{Z}) \cong H^1(M; \mathbb{Z}) \cong \mathbb{Z}$$

can be represented by a surface S such that  $[\partial S] = k\lambda$  in  $H_1(\partial M; \mathbb{Z})$ . Therefore,  $\mu$  has algebraic intersection number  $\pm k$  with S. It follows that the element

$$i_*(\mu) \in H_1(M; \mathbb{Z})_{free} \cong H^1(M; \mathbb{Z}) \cong H_2(M, \partial M; \mathbb{Z}) \cong \mathbb{Z}$$

generate a subgroup of index k.

**Remark 2.23.** The condition that M is longitudinally rigid ensures that the path of representations  $\rho_t$  obtained by deforming the abelian representation  $\rho_0$  does not factor through the longitudinal filling. We can weaken this hypothesis by a local condition at the non-abelian reducible representation  $\rho_{\xi}^+$  that corresponds to a root  $\xi$  of the Alexander polynomial.

We have the following theorem of Burde and de Rham which connects the Alexander polynomial and non-abelian reducible representations:

**Theorem 2.24** ([6] and [12]). Let  $\alpha : \pi_1(M) \to \mathbb{C}^*$  be a representation and define  $\rho_{\alpha}$  as in Equation (2.7). Then there exists a reducible, non-abelian representation  $\rho_{\xi}^+ : \pi_1(M) \to \mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{C})$  such that  $[\rho_{\xi}^+] = [\rho_{\alpha}]$  in X(M) if and only if  $\alpha$  factors through  $H_1(M; \mathbb{Z})_{free} \cong \mathbb{Z}$  sending a generator to the root  $\xi$  of the Alexander polynomial of M.

**Definition 2.25.** Suppose that M be an irreducible  $\mathbb{Q}$ -homology solid torus. Let  $\xi$  be a root of the Alexander polynomial of M and  $\rho_{\xi}^+$  be a non-abelian reducible representation associated to  $\xi$ . We say that M is locally longitudinally rigid at  $\xi$  if

$$H^1(M(0);\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})_{\rho_{\xi}^+}) = 0.$$

Before proving Theorem 1.8, we need the following lemmas from [20] in the real setting. We include the proofs of these lemmas for completeness.

**Lemma 2.26.** [20, Lemma 7.5] Let  $\xi$  be a simple positive real root of the Alexander polynomial and

$$\phi := \rho_{\mathcal{E}}^+ : \pi_1(M) \to \mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{R})$$

be a non-abelian reducible representation that corresponds to  $\xi$ . Then the map

$$H^2(\pi_1(M);\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\phi}) \to H^2(\pi_1(\partial M);\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\phi})$$

induced by the inclusion  $\pi_1(\partial M) \hookrightarrow \pi_1(M)$  is injective.

**Proof.** We have  $\phi|_{\pi_1(\partial M)}$  is nontrivial since  $\operatorname{tr}^2(\phi(\mu)) = \xi^k + 2 + \xi^{-k} > 4$  where k is the index  $\langle [\mu] \rangle$  in  $H_1(M; \mathbb{Z})_{\text{free}}$ . Since  $\partial M$  is aspherical, we have

$$H^*(\partial M; \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\phi}) \cong H^*(\pi_1(\partial M); \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\phi}).$$

Since  $\phi|_{\pi_1(\partial M)}$  is non-trivial, we have

$$H^0(\partial M; \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\phi}) \cong \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})^{\phi(\pi_1(\partial M))} \cong \mathbb{R}.$$

By duality for cohomology with local coefficients and Euler characteristic, see [11, Chapter 3 and 5] and [13, Proposition 2.5.4], we have

$$H^2(\partial M; \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\phi}) \cong \mathbb{R}$$
 and  $H^1(\partial M; \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\phi}) \cong \mathbb{R}^2$ 

Since  $\xi$  is a simple root of the Alexander polynomial, [20, Corollary 5.4] gives that

$$H^1(M; \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\phi}) \cong H^1(\pi_1(M); \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\phi}) \cong \mathbb{R}.$$

By duality for cohomology with local coefficient and universal coefficient for a local system, we have

$$H^2(M, \partial M; \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\phi}) \cong H_1(M; \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\phi}),$$

see [11, Chapter 3 and 5] and the discussion that follows [13, Proposition 2.5.4]. Therefore, the segment

$$H^1(M;\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\phi}) \to H^1(\partial M;\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\phi}) \to H^2(M,\partial M;\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\phi})$$

of the long exact sequence for the pair  $(M, \partial M)$  is short exact. From the long exact sequence of pair for  $(M, \partial M)$  we see that the map

$$H^2(M; \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\phi}) \to H^2(\partial M; \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\phi})$$

is injective. The conclusion of the lemma follows from the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} H^2(M;\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\phi}) & \longleftarrow & H^2(\partial M;\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\phi}) \\ & \uparrow & \cong \uparrow \\ H^2(\pi_1(M);\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\phi}) & \longrightarrow & H^2(\pi_1(\partial M);\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\phi}) \end{array}$$

and the fact that the natural map between group cohomology and manifold cohomology  $H^i(\pi_1(M); \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\phi}) \to H^i(M; \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\phi})$  is injective for i = 2, see also [20, Lemma 3.1]. **Lemma 2.27.** [20, Lemma 7.5] Let  $\xi$  be a simple positive real root of the Alexander polynomial and

$$\phi := \rho_{\mathcal{E}}^+ : \pi_1(M) \to \mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{R})$$

be a non-abelian reducible representation that corresponds to  $\xi$ . All cocycles in the space  $Z^1(\pi_1(M); \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\phi})$  are integrable.

**Proof.** As noted in the proof of Lemma 2.26,  $\phi|_{\pi_1(\partial M)}$  is non-trivial and contains only hyperbolic elements. Since

$$\phi(\pi_1(\partial M)) \subset \mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{R}),$$

the image  $\phi(\pi_1(\partial M))$  cannot be the Klein 4-group. Since the image of  $\phi|_{\pi_1(\partial M)}$  is hyperbolic and abelian, the elements in the image of  $\phi|_{\pi_1(\partial M)}$  act by translations along a unique geodesic axis  $\alpha$  in  $\mathbb{H}^2$ . In a small enough neighborhood of  $\phi|_{\pi_1(\partial M)}$ , the representations of  $\pi_1(\partial M)$  are parametrized by a choice of a geodesic in  $\mathbb{H}^2$  near  $\alpha$  and two choices of translation lengths. Since the space of geodesic in  $\mathbb{H}^2$  is twodimensional,  $\phi|_{\pi_1(\partial M)}$  is a smooth point of an irreducible component of  $R_G(\mathbb{Z}^2)$  with local dimension four.

Let  $i : \pi_1(\partial M) \to \pi_1(M)$  be an inclusion map and  $u_1 : \pi_1(M) \to \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})$  be a cocycle. Suppose we have cochains  $u_2, \ldots, u_k : \pi_1(M) \to \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})$  such that

$$\phi_k(\gamma) = \exp\left(\sum_{i=1}^k t^i u_i(\gamma)\right) \phi(\gamma)$$

is a homomorphism modulo  $t^{k+1}$ . From Proposition 2.8, we get an obstruction class

$$\zeta_{k+1}^{(u_1,\ldots,u_k)} \in H^2(\pi_1(M);\mathfrak{sl}(\mathbb{R})_\phi),$$

which vanishes if and only if  $\phi_k$  can be extended to a homomorphism modulo  $t^{k+2}$ .

The restriction  $\phi_k \circ i$  is a homomorphism modulo  $t^{k+1}$ . Since  $\phi \circ i$  is a smooth point of  $R_G(\mathbb{Z}^2)$ ,  $\phi_k \circ i$  extends to a homomorphism modulo  $t^{k+2}$  by Lemma 2.12. Therefore, the order k + 1 obstruction vanishes on the boundary:

$$i^* \zeta_{k+1}^{(u_1,\dots,u_k)} = \zeta_{k+1}^{(i^*u_1,\dots,i^*u_k)} = 0.$$

By Lemma 2.26,  $i^*$  is injective, and so the obstruction  $\zeta_{k+1}^{(u_1,\ldots,u_k)}$  vanishes for  $\pi_1(M)$  as well. Iterating this process starting with  $u_1$ , we get an infinite sequence of cochains  $\{u_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$  such that  $u_1$  is a cocycle and the obstruction

$$\zeta_{k+1}^{(u_1,\dots,u_k)} = 0$$

for all  $k \geq 1$ . By Proposition 2.8, we get a representation  $\phi_{\infty} : \pi_1(M) \to \text{PSL}_2(\mathbb{R}[[t]])$ 

$$\phi_{\infty}(\gamma) = \exp\left(\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} t^{i} u_{i}(\gamma)\right) \phi(\gamma)$$

for all cocycles  $u_1$ . Therefore, all cocycles of  $Z^1(\pi_1(M); \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R}))$  are integrable.  $\Box$ 

**Proof of Theorem 1.8.** Following the proof of Theorem 2.20, it suffices to prove that the arc A constructed in the proof of Theorem 2.20 is not contained in  $L_0$ . Arguing by contradiction, suppose this arc is contained in  $L_0$ . As in the proof of Theorem 2.20, this would imply that the path of representations  $\rho_t$  factors through M(0). Since  $\rho_t$  is irreducible for all  $t \neq 0$ , we obtain an arc of irreducible characters in X(M(0)) that contains  $[\rho_{\alpha}] = [\rho_{\epsilon}^+]$ .

On the other hand, we claim that there exists a path  $\phi_t : [-1,1] \to R_G(M)$  that is transverse to the orbit of  $\rho_{\xi}^+$  at  $\phi_0 = \rho_{\xi}^+$ , the non-abelian reducible representation that corresponds to  $\xi$ . For convenience, we let  $\phi := \rho_{\xi}^+$ . We have the following isomorphism of cohomology groups

$$H^1(\pi_1(M);\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})_{\phi}) = H^1(\pi_1(M);\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\phi}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}.$$

Since  $\xi$  is a simple root of the Alexander polynomial, [20, Corollary 5.4] gives that  $H^1(\pi_1(M); \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\phi})$  is one-dimensional. Therefore,  $Z^1(\pi_1(M); \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\phi})$  has dimension four. By Lemma 2.27, all cocycles in  $Z^1(\pi_1(M); \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\phi})$  are integrable. Therefore,  $\phi$  is a smooth point of  $R_G(M)$  with local dimension 4. Integrating a cocycle that generates  $H^1(\pi_1(M); \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\phi})$ , we obtain a path  $\phi_t : [-1,1] \to R_G(M)$  which has  $\phi_0 = \phi$  and is transverse to the orbit of  $\phi$  at t = 0.

We note that since  $\phi$  is a smooth point of  $R_G(M)$ , it is contained in a unique irreducible component of  $R_G(M)$ . Since the abelian representations of  $\pi_1(M)$  form an irreducible component of dimension 3,  $\phi$  is locally four-dimensional implies that the path  $\phi_t$  cannot contain any abelian representation. Consider the path  $[\phi_t]$  in  $X_G(M)$ which contains the character  $[\phi_0] = [\rho_0]$  coming from an abelian representation. By [20, Proposition 10.2],  $[\rho_0]$  is contained in precisely two real curves of characters. One of the curves is associated with abelian representations, and the other one with irreducible representations. Since  $\phi_t$  is non-abelian representation for all t, the path  $[\phi_t]$  is contained in the curve of irreducible characters. Therefore, for  $t \neq 0$ , the character  $[\phi_t]$  is the character of some irreducible representation. Up to shrinking and reparametrizing either  $\rho_t$  or  $\phi_t$ , we may assume that  $[\phi_t] = [\rho_t]$  for all t. Since  $\phi_t$ has the same character as an irreducible representation  $\rho_t$  for  $t \neq 0$ , the representation  $\phi_t$  is conjugate to  $\rho_t$  for all  $t \neq 0$  by [10, Proposition 1.5.2]. Since  $\rho_t$  factors through M(0) for all t and  $\phi_t$  is conjugate to  $\rho_t$ , we also get that  $\phi_t$  factors through M(0) for all t. We obtain a path  $[\phi_t]$  in  $R_G(M(0))$  going through  $\phi = \rho_{\xi}^+$  that is transverse to the orbit of  $\rho_{\xi}^+$  under the action of G by conjugation. The existence of this path implies that

$$\dim_{\mathbb{R}} Z^{1}(\Gamma(0), \mathfrak{sl}_{2}(\mathbb{R})_{\rho_{\xi}^{+}}) \geq \dim_{\mathbb{R}} T^{Zar}_{\rho_{\xi}^{+}}(R(\Gamma(0)))$$
$$\geq 1 + \dim_{\mathbb{R}} B^{1}(\Gamma(0), \mathfrak{sl}_{2}(\mathbb{R})_{\rho_{\xi}^{+}}) = 4.$$

This would imply that  $\dim_{\mathbb{R}} H^1(\Gamma(0), \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R})_{\rho_{\xi}^+}) \geq 1$ . Since  $\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C}) = \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{R}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$ , we have

$$H^{1}(\Gamma(0),\mathfrak{sl}_{2}(\mathbb{C})_{\rho_{\xi}^{+}}) = H^{1}(\Gamma(0),\mathfrak{sl}_{2}(\mathbb{R})_{\rho_{\xi}^{+}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$$

Therefore, the dimension of  $H^1(\Gamma(0), \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})_{\rho_{\xi}^+})$  is at least 1. This gives a desired contradiction to the assumption that M is locally longitudinally rigid at  $\xi$ .  $\Box$ 

# Chapter 3

# APPLICATIONS

In this chapter, we apply Theorem 1.8 to study left orderability on two infinite families of knots, namely the family of two-bridge knots  $K_j$  associated to the continued fraction [1, 1, 2, 2, 2j] for  $j \ge 1$  and the family of (-3, 3, 2j + 1)-pretzel knots  $P_j$ . In particular, we will prove Theorem 1.9 and Theorem 1.11.

We first make some remarks about the family of two-bridge knot complements. These knot complements are obtained by doing 1/j Dehn filling on the unknot component of the link  $L_{25}^2$ , see Figure 3.1. The first two members of the family are the knots  $8_{12}$  and  $10_{13}$  in Rolfsen's table. As we will see in Lemma 3.2, the Alexander polynomial of  $K_j$  has all simple positive real roots, and is not monic for  $j \ge 2$ . In particular, the complement of  $K_j$  is not lean for  $j \ge 2$ . Furthermore, the trace field of  $K_j$  for  $1 \le j \le 30$  has no real places, and it is most likely that the trace fields of all knots in this family share this property. Therefore, Theorem 1.9 is not a direct consequence of Theorem 1.3 nor Theorem 1.5. The family of two-bridge knots [1, 1, 2, 2, 2j] is a new family of knots with an interval of left orderable Dehn surgeries which cannot be obtained from prior techniques.



Figure 3.1: The link complement  $L^2_{25}$ 

# **3.1** The [1, 1, 2, 2, 2j] Two-bridge Knots

### 3.1.1 Group Presentation

We will denote by  $\Gamma$  the fundamental group of the complement of the knot  $K_j$ . The knot corresponding to the continued fraction [1, 1, 2, 2, 2j] has the associated fraction

$$[1, 1, 2, 2, 2j] = 1 + \frac{1}{1 + \frac{1}{2 + \frac{1}{2 + \frac{1}{2j}}}} = \frac{24j + 5}{14j + 3}.$$

By [28, Proposition 1], the knot group  $\Gamma$  has the presentation  $\Gamma = \langle x, y \mid xw = wy \rangle$ . The word w is given by

$$w = y^{e_1} x^{e_2} \dots y^{e_{24j+3}} x^{e_{24j+4}} \tag{3.1}$$

$$v = x^{e_{24j+4}} y^{e_{24j+3}} \dots x^{e_2} y^{e_1}.$$
(3.2)

We first give an explicit description of w in terms of x and y by giving a formula for the right-hand sides of Equation (3.1) and Equation (3.2). We have the following lemma.

**Lemma 3.1.** In the terms of the generators x, y of  $\Gamma$ , the word w has the form

$$w = (yx^{-1}y^{-1}x)u^{j}$$
 and  $v = s^{j}(xy^{-1}x^{-1}y)$  (3.3)

where

$$u = (yx^{-1}yx)(y^{-1}x^{-1}yx^{-1})(y^{-1}xyx^{-1})(y^{-1}xy^{-1}x^{-1})(yxy^{-1}x)(yx^{-1}y^{-1}x)$$

and s is u spelled backwards.

**Proof.** Since v is w spelled backwards, it suffices to prove the lemma for w. Let us consider

$$k_{i,j} = \frac{i(14j+3)}{24j+5}$$

for  $1 \le i \le 24j + 4$ . We first claim that

$$\lfloor k_{i,j} \rfloor = \lfloor k_{i,m} \rfloor = \lfloor \frac{7i}{12} \rfloor$$
(3.4)

for all  $j \ge m$  and  $\varepsilon_m \le i \le 24m + 4$  where  $\varepsilon_m = \max\{1, 24(m-1) + 5\}$ . Fixing *i*, we can view  $k_{i,j}$  as a continuous function in the variable *j*. Since  $i \ge 1$ , the derivative of  $k_{i,j}$  with respect to *j* is

$$\frac{dk_{i,j}}{dj} = -\frac{2i}{(24j+5)^2} < 0.$$

The function  $k_{i,j}$  is strictly decreasing and has a horizontal asymptote at 7i/12 as  $j \to +\infty$ . Therefore, we have the following chain of inequalities

$$\frac{7i}{12} < k_{i,j} < k_{i,m} = \frac{(14m+3)i}{24m+5}$$

for all  $j \ge m$  and  $\varepsilon_m \le i \le 24m + 4$ . We have

$$0 < k_{i,m} - \left\lfloor \frac{7i}{12} \right\rfloor \le k_{i,m} - \frac{7i}{12} + \frac{11}{12} = \frac{264m + 55 + i}{288m + 60} < 1$$

for all  $\varepsilon_m \leq i \leq 24m+4$ . It follows that  $k_{i,j}$  is contained in the interval  $\left( \lfloor \frac{7i}{12} \rfloor, \lfloor \frac{7i}{12} \rfloor + 1 \right]$ for all  $j \geq m$  and  $\varepsilon_m \leq i \leq 24m+4$ . To verify Equation (3.4), it remains to show that  $k_{i,m}$  is not an integer for all  $\varepsilon_m \leq i \leq 24m+4$ . Since 14m+3 and 24m+5 are relatively prime,  $k_{i,m}$  is an integer if and only if 24m+5 divides *i*. But this is not possible since  $1 \leq i < 24m+5$ .

By a direct computation, we can verify Equation (3.3) when j = 1. From Equation (3.4), we see that the right-hand side of Equation (3.1) has prefix  $w_1 = yx^{-1}y^{-1}xu$ for all  $j \ge 1$ . We write  $w = w_1w'_j = (yx^{-1}y^{-1}x)uw'_j$ . It remains to show that  $w'_j = u^{j-1}$ . Using Equation (3.4), we have

$$\lfloor k_{i+24n,j} \rfloor = \left\lfloor \frac{7i}{12} + 14n \right\rfloor = \left\lfloor \frac{7i}{12} \right\rfloor + 14n = \lfloor k_{i,j} \rfloor + 14n$$

for all  $5 \le i \le 28$  and  $5 \le i + 24n \le 24j + 4$ . We have

$$\lfloor k_{i,j} \rfloor \equiv \lfloor k_{i+24n,j} \rfloor \mod 2 \tag{3.5}$$

for all  $5 \le i \le 28$  and  $5 \le i + 24n \le 24j + 4$ . Equation (3.5) implies that the parity of  $\lfloor k_{i,j} \rfloor$  repeats with period 24 when  $i \ge 5$ . Since the word for w in x and y only depends on this parity, the word w is given by Equation (3.3) as claimed. This completes the proof of the lemma.

### **3.1.2** The Alexander Polynomial Of $K_i$

Now we will compute the Alexander polynomial of  $K_j$  using non-abelian reducible representations. Let  $\rho : \Gamma \to \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{C})$  be a non-abelian reducible representation of  $\Gamma$ . Since  $\Gamma$  is generated by two conjugate meridians x and y, the representation  $\rho$  can be conjugated to have the form

$$x \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} t & 0 \\ 0 & t^{-1} \end{pmatrix}, \text{ and } y \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} t & 1 \\ 0 & t^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$$
 (3.6)

where  $t \neq \pm 1$ . By Theorem 2.24, for a knot group  $\Gamma$  the assignment in Equation (3.6) defines a representation of  $\Gamma$  if and only if  $t^2$  is a root of the Alexander polynomial  $\Delta(\tau) \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau^{\pm 1}]$ . Consequently, we can use this fact to compute the Alexander polynomial of the knot  $K_j$  as follows.

Let  $F_2$  be the free group on two letters X and Y. Consider the representation  $P: F_2 \to \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}[\tau^{\pm 1}])$ 

$$X \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} \tau & 0 \\ 0 & \tau^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$$
, and  $Y \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} \tau & 1 \\ 0 & \tau^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$ .

Let W be the word in X and Y given by Equation (3.3). A direct calculation shows that

$$P(W) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -j\tau^3 + (5j+1)\tau - (5j+1)\tau^{-1} + j\tau^{-3} \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The representation P factors through the natural projection  $F_2 \to \Gamma$  if and only if P(XW) = P(WY). Or equivalently, we have

$$j\tau^4 - (6j+1)\tau^2 + (10j+3) - (6j+1)\tau^{-2} + j\tau^{-4} = 0.$$

The expression above is the Alexander polynomial of  $K_j$  evaluated at  $\tau^2$ . As a convention, we will normalize the Alexander polynomial so that the lowest term of  $\Delta(\tau)$  is a non-zero constant term. We have the following lemma.

**Lemma 3.2.** The Alexander polynomial of  $K_j$  has the form

$$\Delta(\tau) = j\tau^4 - (6j+1)\tau^3 + (10j+3)\tau^2 - (6j+1)\tau + j.$$
(3.7)

Furthermore,  $\Delta(\tau)$  has exactly 4 simple real roots.

**Proof.** The discussion prior to the lemma implies that

$$\Delta(\tau^2) = j\tau^8 - (6j+1)\tau^6 + (10j+3)\tau^4 - (6j+1)\tau^2 + j.$$

This gives us Equation (3.7) as claimed. For the claim about the roots of  $\Delta$ , we consider  $\delta(\tau) = \Delta(\tau)/j$ . We note that

$$\delta_j(0) = 1, \ \delta_j(1/2) = \frac{-3j+2}{16j}, \ \delta_j(1) = \frac{1}{j}, \ \delta_j(2) = \frac{-3j+2}{j}, \ \delta_j(5) = \frac{96j-55}{j}.$$

For all  $j \ge 1$ , we see that  $\delta_j$  changes signs 4 times in the interval [0, 5]. By continuity,  $\delta_j(\tau)$  has 4 distinct real roots in the interval [0, 5]. Therefore,  $\Delta(\tau)$  has at least 4 positive real roots. Since  $\Delta$  has degree 4,  $\Delta$  has precisely 4 simple positive real roots for all  $j \ge 1$ .

### **3.1.3** The Group Cohomology $H^1(\Gamma(0); \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})_{\rho})$

In this section, we will prove that the knots  $K_j$  are locally longitudinal rigid by directly computing the group cohomology with coefficients in  $\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})$ . We first identify  $\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})$ with  $\mathbb{C}^3$  by choosing the following basis

$$v_{+} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad v_{0} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \text{ and } v_{-} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.8)

With respect to this basis, the adjoint representation  $\operatorname{Ad} : \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{C}) \to \operatorname{SL}_3(\mathbb{C})$  becomes

$$\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} a^2 & -2ab & -b^2 \\ -ac & ad + bc & bd \\ -c^2 & 2cd & d^2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

By Lemma 3.2, we can choose  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $t^2$  is a simple root of the Alexander polynomial  $\Delta(\tau)$ . Since the longitude  $\ell$  belongs to the second commutator subgroup of  $\Gamma$ , any non-abelian reducible representation on  $\Gamma$  factors through  $\Gamma(0)$ . We get a non-abelian reducible representation  $\rho : \Gamma(0) \to \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{C})$  given by Equation (3.6). For convenience, we will write

$$\rho(w) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & f \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

where  $f = -jt^3 + (5j+1)t - (5j+1)t^{-1} + jt^{-3}$ . The action of  $\Gamma(0)$  on  $\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})$  is given by

$$x \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} t^2 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & t^{-2} \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad y \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} t^2 & -2t & -1 \\ 0 & 1 & t^{-1} \\ 0 & 0 & t^{-2} \end{pmatrix}$$

Using Equation (2.2), we see that the space of coboundaries can be parametrized by  $d: \Gamma(0) \to \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})_\rho$  such that

$$d(x) = \begin{pmatrix} (t^2 - 1)a \\ 0 \\ (t^{-2} - 1)c \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad d(y) = \begin{pmatrix} (t^2 - 1)a - 2tb - c \\ t^{-1}c \\ (t^{-2} - 1)c \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.9)

**Proposition 3.3.** Any cohomology class in  $H^1(\Gamma(0); \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})_{\rho})$  can be represented by a 1-cocycle  $z \in Z^1(\Gamma(0); \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})_{\rho})$  such that

$$z(x) = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ \alpha\\ \beta \end{pmatrix} \quad and \quad z(y) = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ \alpha\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}. \tag{3.10}$$

**Proof.** Let  $z \in Z^1(\Gamma(0); \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})_{\rho})$  be a 1-cocycle. Since  $t^2 \neq 1$ , by an appropriate choice of  $a, b, c \in \mathbb{C}$  for a coboundary d in Equation (3.9), we can assume that

$$z(x) = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ \alpha\\ \beta \end{pmatrix}$$
 and  $z(y) = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ \delta\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$ .

The relation z(xw) = z(wy) implies that

$$z(x) + (x - 1) \cdot z(w) - w \cdot z(y) = 0.$$

Or equivalently, we have

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0\\ \alpha\\ \beta \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} t^2 - 1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & t^{-2} - 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \omega_1\\ \omega_2\\ \omega_3 \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -2f & -f^2\\ 0 & 1 & f\\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ \delta\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ 0\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The second coordinate of the previous equation implies that  $\delta = \alpha$ .

We will need the following lemma

**Lemma 3.4.** Let  $z \in Z^1(\Gamma(0); \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})_{\rho})$  be given by Equation (3.10). Suppose that

$$z(w) = \omega_1 v_+ + \omega_2 v_0 + \omega_3 v_- \quad and \quad z(v) = \nu_1 v_+ + \nu_2 v_0 + \nu_3 v_-$$

Then

$$\begin{split} \omega_1 &= \alpha (-4jt^3 + (10j+2)t - 2jt^{-3}) + \beta h \\ \omega_2 &= \left(\frac{1}{2}j(j+1)t^7 - 5j(j+1)t^5 + \frac{1}{2}(35j^2 + 31j+2)t^3 - (26j^2 + 14j+2)t^3 + \frac{1}{2}j(35j-3)t^{-1} - j(5j-3)t^{-3} + \frac{1}{2}j(j-1)t^{-5}\right)\beta \\ \nu_2 &= \left(\frac{1}{2}j(j+1)t^7 - 5j(j+1)t^5 + \frac{1}{2}(35j^2 + 27j+2)t^3 - (26j^2 + 6j)t + \frac{1}{2}j(35j-7)t^{-1} - j(5j-3)t^{-3} + \frac{1}{2}j(j-1)t^{-5}\right)\beta \\ \omega_3 &= -\nu_3 = tf\beta \end{split}$$

where  $h \in \mathbb{C}$ .

**Proof.** The proof of this lemma is a direct calculation. By a repeat application of the cocycle relation in Equation (2.1), we have

$$z(w) = z(yx^{-1}y^{-1}x) + (yx^{-1}y^{-1}x) \cdot \sum_{i=0}^{j-1} u^i \cdot z(u),$$
$$z(v) = s^j \cdot z(xy^{-1}x^{-1}y) + \sum_{i=0}^{j-1} s^i \cdot z(s).$$

We also have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{i=0}^{j-1} (\operatorname{Ad} \circ \rho)(u^i) &= \begin{pmatrix} j & (j^2 - j)(t^3 - 5t + 5t^{-1} - t^{-3}) & -\frac{1}{6}(2j^3 - 3j^2 + j)(t^3 - 5t + 5t^{-1} - t^{-3})^2 \\ 0 & j & -\frac{1}{2}(j^2 - j)(t^3 - 5t + 5t^{-1} - t^{-3}) \\ 0 & 0 & j \end{pmatrix}, \\ \\ \sum_{i=0}^{j-1} (\operatorname{Ad} \circ \rho)(s^i) &= \begin{pmatrix} j & -(j^2 - j)(t^3 - 5t + 5t^{-1} - t^{-3}) & -\frac{1}{6}(2j^3 - 3j^2 + j)(t^3 - 5t + 5t^{-1} - t^{-3})^2 \\ 0 & j & \frac{1}{2}(j^2 - j)(t^3 - 5t + 5t^{-1} - t^{-3}) \\ 0 & 0 & j \end{pmatrix}, \end{split}$$

and

$$z(u) = \begin{pmatrix} (-4t^3 + 10t - 2t^{-3})\alpha + h'\beta \\ (t^7 - 9t^5 + 27t^3 - 30t + 10t^{-1} - t^{-3})\beta \\ (-t^4 + 5t^2 - 5 + t^{-2})\beta \end{pmatrix}$$
$$z(s) = \begin{pmatrix} (4t^3 - 10t + 2t^{-3})\alpha + h''\beta \\ (t^7 - 9t^5 + 25t^3 - 22t + 8t^{-1} - t^{-3})\beta \\ (t^4 - 5t^2 + 5 - t^{-2})\beta \end{pmatrix}$$

for some  $h', h'' \in \mathbb{C}$ . The lemma will follow once we note that

$$z(yx^{-1}y^{-1}x) = \begin{pmatrix} 2t\alpha - (t^4 - 3t^2 + 1)\beta \\ (t^3 - 2t)\beta \\ (t^2 - 1)\beta \end{pmatrix},$$
$$z(xy^{-1}x^{-1}y) = \begin{pmatrix} (-6t + 2t^{-1})\alpha + t^4\beta \\ t^3\beta \\ (-t^2 + 1)\beta \end{pmatrix}.$$

Now we are ready to show that  $H^1(\Gamma(0); \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})_{\rho}) = 0.$ 

**Proof of Theorem 1.9.** Now we will show that  $K_j$  is locally longitudinally rigid for all  $j \ge 1$  at any root of the Alexander polynomial. Let  $[z] \in H^1(\Gamma(0); \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})_{\rho})$ . By Proposition 3.3, we can assume that z satisfies Equation (3.10). Since  $z(\ell) = 0$ , we must have

$$z(w) + w \cdot z(v) = 0.$$

Let us write  $z(w) = \omega_1 v_+ + \omega_2 v_0 + \omega_3 v_-$  and  $z(v) = \nu_1 v_+ + \nu_2 v_0 + \nu_3 v_-$ . The second coordinate of this equation implies that  $\omega_2 + \nu_2 + f\nu_3 = 0$ . Using Lemma 3.4, we have

$$\frac{(t^4-1)(t^4+j(t^4-4t^2+1)^2)}{t^5}\beta = 0.$$

Suppose that  $\beta \neq 0$ . Since  $t \in \mathbb{R} - \{\pm 1\}$ , we have

$$t^4 + j(t^4 - 4t^2 + 1)^2 = 0.$$

,

Since  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $j \ge 1$ , the above equation holds if and only if

$$t = 0$$
 and  $t^4 - 4t^2 + 1 = 0$ .

This is the desired contradiction. Therefore, we must have  $\beta = 0$ .

From the first coordinate of the relation z(xw) = z(wy), we have

$$(t^2 - 1)\omega_1 + 2f\alpha = 0$$

Using  $\beta = 0$  and Lemma 3.4, this equation is equivalent to

$$(t^4 - 1)(2jt^4 - (6j + 1)t^2 + 2j))\alpha = 0.$$

Similarly, if  $\alpha \neq 0$ , we must have  $(2jt^4 - (6j+1)t^2 + 2j)) = 0$ . It follows that  $t^2$  is a root of both

$$\Delta(\tau)$$
 and  $h(\tau) := (2j\tau^2 - (6j+1)\tau + 2j).$ 

Note that the roots of  $h(\tau)$  are reciprocal of each other. Since  $\Delta(\tau)$  is a reciprocal polynomial, the roots of  $\Delta(\tau)$  come in reciprocal pairs. Therefore,  $h(\tau)$  divides  $\Delta(\tau)$ . By Gauss's lemma, we can write  $\Delta(\tau) = h(\tau)k(\tau)$  for  $k(\tau) \in \mathbb{Z}[\tau]$ . This implies that  $\Delta(0) = h(0)k(0)$  or j = 2jk(0). This contradicts the fact that  $j \geq 1$  and  $k(0) \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Therefore,  $\alpha = 0$  and z can only be the zero cocycle. Consequently,  $H^1(\Gamma(0); \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})_{\rho}) = 0$  where  $\rho$  is any non-abelian reducible representation of  $\Gamma(0)$ . In other words, the knot  $K_j$  is locally longitudinally rigid at any root of the Alexander polynomial. By Theorem 1.8, there exists an interval of left orderable Dehn surgeries near 0.

# **3.2** The (-3, 3, 2j + 1) – Pretzel Knot

Let  $P_j$  be the (-3, 3, 2j + 1) pretzel knot for  $j \ge 1$ .

### 3.2.1 The Group Presentation

We will denote by  $\Gamma$  the fundamental group of the complement of the pretzel knot  $P_j$ . We first compute a presentation of  $\Gamma$  from the knot diagram. Consider the crossing



Figure 3.2: A twist region with n positive half-twists.

region with n crossings as in Figure 3.2. By our convention, the crossings in Figure 3.2 are all positive. Let us fix a basepoint lying above the diagram. Let s and t be the meridians at the top, u and v be the meridians at the bottom as in Figure 3.2.

We will denote  ${}^{g}h := ghg^{-1}$ . In this notation, we have the following relations among the meridians. When n = 2k + 1 > 0, we have

$$u = {}^{(s^{-1}t^{-1})^k s^{-1}}t$$
, and  $v = {}^{(s^{-1}t^{-1})^k}s$ .

When n = 2k > 0, we have

$$u = {}^{(s^{-1}t^{-1})^k}s$$
, and  $v = {}^{(s^{-1}t^{-1})^{k-1}s^{-1}}t$ .

Let  $s_1, s_2$  and  $s_3$  be the meridians as in Figure 3.3. The knot group  $\Gamma$  has the following presentation:

$$\Gamma = \langle s_1, s_2, s_3 \mid s_2^{-1} s_1 s_2^{-1} s_1 = s_2^{-1} s_3 s_2^{-1} s_3, s_2^{-1} s_3 s_2 = (s_3^{-1} s_1)^j s_3^{-1} s_1, (s_3^{-1} s_1)^j s_3 = s_2^{-1} s_1 s_2 \rangle$$
  
=  $\langle s_1, s_2, s_3 \mid w_1 s_1 = s_2 w_1, w_2 s_2 = s_3 w_2, w_3 s_3 = s_1 w_3, \rangle$   
(3.11)



Figure 3.3: The (-3,3,2j+1)-pretzel knot with a Seifert surface and its longitude

where  $w_1 = s_3^{-1} s_2 (s_3^{-1} s_1)^j s_3^{-1}$ ,  $w_2 = (s_1^{-1} s_3)^j s_2^{-1} s_1$ , and  $w_3 = s_2 s_1^{-1} s_3 s_2^{-1}$ .

To compute the homological longitude of the knot, we first construct a Seifert surface using Seifert's algorithm. As a result, we obtain the surface in Figure 3.3 with each side colored in red and blue. Tracing out the boundary of this surface, we obtain the longitude of the knot. In terms of the meridians  $s_i$ , the homological longitude is given by

$$\ell = s_1^{-1} w_1^{-1} w_2^{-1} w_3^{-1}. \tag{3.12}$$

### **3.2.2** The Alexander Polynomial Of $P_j$

Now we will use the presentation of  $\Gamma$  to compute the Alexander polynomial of  $P_j$ using Fox calculus. For a reference regarding this material, we will follow [6, Chapter 9]. We first recall the definition of the Alexander polynomial of a knot via Fox calculus. Let

$$\Gamma_K = \langle S_1, \dots, S_n \mid R_1, \dots, R_k \rangle$$

be the knot group and  $\phi : \Gamma_K \to \mathbb{Z}$  be the abelianization of  $\Gamma_k$ . In particular,  $\phi$  sends all meridians of the knot K to the generator  $\tau$  of  $\mathbb{Z} \cong \langle \tau \rangle$ . Let X be a connected 2-complex with one 0-cells x, n 1-cells each corresponds to a generator  $S_i$ , and k 2-cells each corresponds to a relation  $R_j$ . Let  $(\hat{X}, \hat{x}) \to (X, x)$ be the infinite cyclic cover of X corresponds to the kernel of  $\phi$  and  $\hat{X}_0$  be the 0skeleton of  $\hat{X}$ . The cover  $(\hat{X}, \hat{x})$  has the structure of a 2-complex equipped with a covering action of  $\langle \tau \rangle$ . Using the covering action of  $\tau$ , we get an action of  $\mathbb{Z}[\tau^{\pm 1}]$  on  $H_1(\hat{X}, \hat{X}_0)$ . The Alexander module of  $\Gamma_K$  is the  $\mathbb{Z}[\tau^{\pm 1}]$ -module  $H_1(\hat{X}, \hat{X}_0)$ .

The module  $H_1(\hat{X}, \hat{X}_0)$  is generated by lifts of the (oriented) 1-cells in X to  $\hat{X}$ based at  $\hat{x}$  and in particular, is finitely generated. The lifts of the boundary  $R_j = \partial e_j$ of the 2-cells are the defining relations of the Alexander module. As a consequence, we get a  $n \times k$  presentation matrix  $J_{\phi}$  over  $\mathbb{Z}[\tau^{\pm 1}]$  of the Alexander module. The  $i^{th}$ -elementary ideal of  $J_{\phi}$  is the ideal generated by all  $(n - i) \times (n - i)$  minors of  $J_{\phi}$ . Since  $\mathbb{Z}[\tau^{\pm 1}]$  is a P.I.D, the Alexander polynomial of  $\Gamma_K$  is defined to be the generators of the first elementary ideal of  $J_{\phi}$ , which is defined up to  $\pm 1$  and powers of  $\tau$ , the units of  $\mathbb{Z}[\tau^{\pm 1}]$ .

To compute the Alexander polynomial  $\Gamma_K$ , we will write down the presentation matrix of the Alexander module by lifting  $R_j$  to  $\hat{X}$ . Let us first consider a closed path  $\gamma$  in the 1-skeleton of X based at x. We denote by  $\hat{\gamma}$  the lift of  $\gamma$  to  $\hat{X}$  based at  $\hat{x}$ . Now suppose that  $\gamma = \gamma_1 \gamma_2$  that is  $\gamma$  can be decomposed into two closed paths  $\gamma_1$ and  $\gamma_2$  also based at x. Then the lift of  $\gamma$  based at  $\hat{x}$  to  $\hat{X}$  can be written as 1-cycle in  $(\hat{X}, \hat{x})$  as

$$\widehat{\gamma} = \widehat{\gamma_1} + \phi(\gamma_1)\widehat{\gamma_2}$$

Geometrically, the previous equation means that travelling along  $\hat{\gamma}$  is the same as first travelling along  $\hat{\gamma}_1$  from  $\hat{x}$  to  $\phi(\gamma_1)(\hat{x})$  and then travelling along the lift of  $\gamma_2$  based at  $\phi(\gamma_1)(\hat{x})$ , which is  $\phi(\gamma_1)(\hat{\gamma}_2)$ . This geometric intuition motivates the definition of Fox derivatives

**Definition 3.5.** Let  $F_n = \langle S_1, \ldots, S_n \rangle$  be the free group on *n* letters. The Fox derivative with respect to  $S_i$  is the map  $\frac{\partial}{\partial S_i} : \mathbb{Z}[F_n] \to \mathbb{Z}[F_n]$  that satisfies the following property:

1. 
$$\frac{\partial S_j}{\partial S_i} = \delta_{ij}$$
, the Kronecker delta

2. 
$$\frac{\partial e}{\partial S_i} = 0$$
  
3.  $\frac{\partial}{\partial S_i}(ab) = \frac{\partial a}{\partial S_i} + a \frac{\partial b}{\partial S_i}$ 

**Definition 3.6.** Let  $\Gamma_K = \langle S_1, \ldots, S_n \mid R_1, \ldots, R_k \rangle$  be the knot group and  $\phi : \Gamma_K \to \mathbb{Z}$ be the abelianization of  $\Gamma_K$ . The map  $\phi$  extends linearly to a map between the integral group rings  $\phi : \mathbb{Z}\Gamma_K \to \mathbb{Z}[\tau^{\pm 1}]$ . The presentation matrix of the Alexander module of  $\Gamma_K$  is given by

$$J_{\phi} = \left(\phi\left(\frac{\partial R_j}{\partial S_i}\right)\right)$$

where  $1 \le i \le n, \ 1 \le j \le k$ .

**Remark 3.7.** Technically, the Fox derivative is only defined for free group. To make sense of the formula in the previous definition, we can think about  $S_i$  as generators of the free group  $F_n$  and  $R_j$  as words in  $S_i$  in  $F_n$  and compute the Fox derivatives in  $\mathbb{Z}[F_n]$ . Now, we can precompose the natural surjection  $\psi : \mathbb{Z}[F_n] \to \mathbb{Z}[\Gamma_K]$  with  $\phi$  to get the entries of the presentation matrix over  $\mathbb{Z}[\tau^{\pm 1}]$ .

We will need the following to compute the Jacobian matrix  $J_{\phi}$ .

$$\phi\left(\frac{\partial w_1}{\partial s_1}\right) = \phi\left(\sum_{k=0}^{j-1} s_3^{-1} s_2 (s_3^{-1} s_1)^k s_3^{-1}\right) = j\tau^{-1}$$

$$\phi\left(\frac{\partial w_1}{\partial s_2}\right) = \phi(s_3^{-1}) = \tau^{-1}$$

$$\phi\left(\frac{\partial w_1}{\partial s_3}\right) = \phi\left(-s_3^{-1} - \sum_{k=0}^j s_3^{-1} s_2 (s_3^{-1} s_1)^k s_3^{-1}\right) = -(j+2)\tau^{-1}$$

$$\phi\left(\frac{\partial w_3}{\partial s_1}\right) = \phi(-s_2 s_1^{-1}) = 1$$

$$\phi\left(\frac{\partial w_3}{\partial s_2}\right) = \phi(1 - w_3) = 0$$

$$\phi\left(\frac{\partial w_3}{\partial s_3}\right) = \phi(s_2 s_1^{-1}) = 1$$

$$\begin{split} \phi\left(\frac{\partial r_1}{\partial s_1}\right) &= \phi\left(\frac{\partial w_1}{\partial s_1} + w_1 - w_1 s_1 w_1^{-1} \frac{\partial w_1}{\partial s_1}\right) = (1-\tau)j\tau^{-1} + \tau^{-1} \\ \phi\left(\frac{\partial r_1}{\partial s_2}\right) &= \phi\left(\frac{\partial w_1}{\partial s_2} - w_1 s_1 w_1^{-1} \frac{\partial w_1}{\partial s_2} - w_1 s_1 w_1^{-1} s_2^{-1}\right) = (1-\tau)\tau^{-1} - 1 \\ \phi\left(\frac{\partial r_1}{\partial s_3}\right) &= \phi\left(\frac{\partial w_1}{\partial s_3} - w_1 s_1 w_1^{-1} \frac{\partial w_1}{\partial s_3}\right) = -(1-\tau)(j+2)\tau^{-1} \\ \phi\left(\frac{\partial r_3}{\partial s_1}\right) &= \phi\left((1-w_3 s_3 w_3^{-1})\frac{\partial w_3}{\partial s_1} - r_3\right) = \tau - 2 \\ \phi\left(\frac{\partial r_3}{\partial s_2}\right) &= \phi\left((1-w_3 s_3 w_3^{-1})\frac{\partial w_3}{\partial s_2}\right) = 0 \\ \phi\left(\frac{\partial r_3}{\partial s_3}\right) &= \phi\left((1-w_3 s_3 w_3^{-1})\frac{\partial w_3}{\partial s_3} + w_3\right) = -\tau + 2 \end{split}$$

**Lemma 3.8.** The Alexander polynomial of  $P_j$ , up to normalization, has the form

$$\Delta(\tau) = (\tau - 2)(2\tau - 1) \tag{3.13}$$

In particular,  $\Delta(\tau)$  has a simple real root that is larger than 1.

**Proof.** The prensetation matrix of the Alexander module of  $\Gamma$  is

$$J_{\phi} = \begin{pmatrix} (j+1)\tau^{-1} - j & \tau^{-1} - 2 & (j+2)(-\tau^{-1}+1) \\ \tau - 2 & 0 & -\tau + 2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

All  $2 \times 2$  minors of this matrix are the same up to signs. Therefore, the Alexander polynomial of  $P_j$  is the determinant of the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} (j+1)\tau^{-1} - j & \tau^{-1} - 2 \\ \tau - 2 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

which has the form

$$-(\tau-2)(\tau^{-1}-2).$$

Up to some power of  $\tau$ , the Alexander polynomial of  $P_j$  is  $\Delta(\tau)$ .

## **3.2.3** The Group Cohomology $H^1(\Gamma(0); \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})_{\rho})$

We will now prove that the knots  $P_j$  are locally longitudinal rigid by directly computing the group cohomology with coefficients in  $\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})$ . We will use the same identification of  $\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})$  with  $\mathbb{C}^3$  as in Equation (3.8).

We now choose a non-abelian reducible representation of  $\Gamma(0)$  that corresponds to a root of the Alexander polynomial. Consider the assignment  $\rho : \Gamma \to SL_2(\mathbb{C})$  given by

$$s_1 \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} 2^{1/2} & 1\\ 0 & 2^{-1/2} \end{pmatrix}, \quad s_2 \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} 2^{1/2} & \beta\\ 0 & 2^{-1/2} \end{pmatrix}, \quad s_3 \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} 2^{1/2} & 0\\ 0 & 2^{-1/2} \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.14)

Using the group relations in Equation (3.11), we deduce that  $\rho$  defines a group homomorphism of  $\Gamma$  if and only if  $\beta = (-j+1)/3$ . Since the longitude  $\ell$  lies in the second commutator subgroup of  $\Gamma$ , the representation  $\rho$  factors through  $\Gamma(0)$  and gives us  $\rho: \Gamma(0) \to SL_2(\mathbb{C})$  defined by Equation (3.14).

Using Equation (2.2), we parametrize the space of coboundaries  $B^1(\Gamma(0); \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})_{\rho})$ by  $d: \Gamma(0) \to \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})_{\rho}$  such that

$$d(s_{1}) = \begin{pmatrix} a - 2\sqrt{2}b - c \\ c/\sqrt{2} \\ -c/2 \end{pmatrix} d(s_{1}) = \begin{pmatrix} a - 2\sqrt{2}\beta b - \beta^{2}c \\ \beta c/\sqrt{2} \\ -c/2 \end{pmatrix} d(s_{3}) = \begin{pmatrix} a \\ 0 \\ -c/2 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.15)

**Proposition 3.9.** Any cohomology class in  $H^1(\Gamma(0); \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})_{\rho})$  can be represented by a 1-cocycle  $z \in Z^1(\Gamma(0); \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})_{\rho})$  such that

$$z(s_{1}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ b_{1} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \quad z(s_{2}) = \begin{pmatrix} a_{2} \\ b_{2} \\ c_{2} \end{pmatrix} \quad z(s_{3}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ b_{1} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.16)

**Proof.** Let  $z \in Z^1(\Gamma(0); \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})_{\rho})$  be a 1-cocycle. Adjusting z by an appropriate coboundary d as in Equation (3.15), we may assume that

$$z(s_{1}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\b_{1}\\c_{1} \end{pmatrix} \quad z(s_{2}) = \begin{pmatrix} a_{2}\\b_{2}\\c_{2} \end{pmatrix} \quad z(s_{3}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\b_{3}\\0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.17)

By a direct calculation, we have

$$z(w_3) = z(s_2s_1^{-1}s_3s_2^{-1}) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{2\sqrt{2}}{3}(j+2)(-b_1+b_3) - 2\sqrt{2}b_2 + \frac{2}{9}(2+j)^2c_1 + 2c_2\\ -b_1 + b_3 + (j+2)\frac{\sqrt{2}}{3}c_1 + \sqrt{2}c_2\\ -c_1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

From the group relation, we must have  $z(w_3s_3) = z(s_1w_3)$  which is equivalent to

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{2\sqrt{2}}{3}(j-1)b_1 + 2\sqrt{2}b_2 + \frac{2\sqrt{2}}{3}(-j+4)b_3 + \frac{-2j^2+4j+7}{9}c_1 + 2c_2\\ -b_1 + b_3 + \frac{c_1}{\sqrt{2}}\\ -\frac{3}{2}c_1 \end{pmatrix} = 0.$$

Therefore,  $c_1 = 0$  and  $b_3 = b_1$ .

**Lemma 3.10.** Let  $z \in Z^1(\Gamma(0); \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})_{\rho})$  be given by Equation (3.16). Suppose that

$$z(w_i) = w_{i,1}v_+ + w_{i,2}v_0 + w_{i,3}v_-.$$

Then we have

$$w_{1,1} = \frac{1}{2}a_2 + \frac{\sqrt{2}}{3}(2j+1)b_1, \ w_{1,2} = -2b_1 + b_2, \ w_{1,3} = 2c_2$$
$$w_{2,2} = b_1 - b_2 + \frac{\sqrt{2}}{3}(-7j+1)c_2, \ w_{2,3} = -2c_2$$
$$w_{3,1} = -2\sqrt{2}b_2 + 2c_2, \ w_{3,2} = \sqrt{2}c_2, \ w_{3,3} = 0$$

**Proof.** The proof of the lemma is a direct calculation. It is helpful to note that

$$z(s_3^{-1}s_1) = z(s_1^{-1}s_3) = 0.$$

Using this identity, we have

$$z(w_1) = z(s_3^{-1}s_2) - w_1 \cdot z(s_3) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2}a_2 + \frac{\sqrt{2}}{3}(2j+1)b_1 \\ -2b_1 + b_2 \\ 2c_2 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$z(w_2) = (s_1^{-1}s_3) \cdot z(s_2^{-1}z_1) = \begin{pmatrix} * \\ b_1 - b_2 + \frac{\sqrt{2}}{3}(-7j+1)c_2 \\ -2c_2 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$z(w_3) = z(s_2) - w_3 \cdot z(s_2) = \begin{pmatrix} -2\sqrt{2}b_2 + 2c_2 \\ \sqrt{2}c_2 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

**Proof of Theorem 1.11.** Now we will show that  $P_j$  is locally longitudinally rigid for all  $j \ge 1$  at the root  $\tau = 2$  of the Alexander polynomial. Let  $[z] \in H^1(\Gamma(0); \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})_{\rho})$ . By Proposition 3.9, we may assume that z is given by Equation (3.16). By Lemma 3.10, the second coordinate of the equation  $z(\ell) = 0$  is

$$\sqrt{2}(3j-2)c_2 = 0,$$

which implies that  $c_2 = 0$ . Letting  $c_2 = 0$ , the relation  $z(w_3s_3) = z(s_1w_3)$  becomes

$$2\sqrt{2}(b_1 + b_2) = 0.$$

By Lemma 3.10, the first and second coordinates of the equation  $z(w_1s_1) = z(s_2w_1)$ become

$$2b_1 = 0$$
 and  $-\frac{3}{2}a_2 + \frac{2\sqrt{2}}{3}(j-4)b_1 = 0.$ 

This implies that  $a_2 = b_1 = 0$  and that z must be the zero cocycle. Consequently,  $H^1(\Gamma(0); \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})_{\rho}) = 0$  where  $\rho$  is any non-abelian reducible representation of  $\Gamma(0)$ . In other words, the knot  $P_j$  is locally longitudinally rigid at the root  $\tau = 2$  of the Alexander polynomial. By Theorem 1.8, there exists an interval of left orderable Dehn surgeries near 0.

# BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [1] M. Artin. On the solutions of analytic equations. Invent. Math., 5:277–291, 1968.
- [2] Kenneth L. Baker and Kathleen L. Petersen. Character varieties of oncepunctured torus bundles with tunnel number one. *Internat. J. Math.*, 24(6):1350048, 57, 2013.
- [3] Steven Boyer and Adam Clay. Foliations, orders, representations, L-spaces and graph manifolds. Adv. Math., 310:159–234, 2017.
- [4] Steven Boyer, Cameron McA. Gordon, and Liam Watson. On L-spaces and left-orderable fundamental groups. *Math. Ann.*, 356(4):1213–1245, 2013.
- [5] Steven Boyer, Dale Rolfsen, and Bert Wiest. Orderable 3-manifold groups. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble), 55(1):243–288, 2005.
- [6] Gerhard Burde. Darstellungen von Knotengruppen. Math. Ann., 173:24–33, 1967.
- [7] Danny Calegari. Foliations and the geometry of 3-manifolds. Oxford Mathematical Monographs. Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2007.
- [8] Eric Chesebro. Farey recursion and the character varieties for 2-bridge knots. In *Characters in low-dimensional topology*, volume 760 of *Contemp. Math.*, pages 9–33. Amer. Math. Soc., [Providence], RI, [2020] ©2020.
- [9] Marc Culler and Nathan M. Dunfield. Orderability and Dehn filling. Geom. Topol., 22(3):1405–1457, 2018.

- [10] Marc Culler and Peter B. Shalen. Varieties of group representations and splittings of 3-manifolds. Ann. of Math. (2), 117(1):109–146, 1983.
- [11] James F. Davis and Paul Kirk. Lecture notes in algebraic topology, volume 35 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2001.
- [12] Georges de Rham. Introduction aux polynômes d'un nœud. Enseign. Math. (2), 13:187–194 (1968), 1967.
- [13] Alexandru Dimca. Sheaves in topology. Universitext. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2004.
- [14] Nathan M. Dunfield. Floer homology, group orderability, and taut foliations of hyperbolic 3-manifolds. *Geom. Topol.*, 24(4):2075–2125, 2020.
- [15] Xinghua Gao. Orderability of homology spheres obtained by Dehn filling, 2019.
- [16] Étienne Ghys. Groups acting on the circle. *Enseign. Math. (2)*, 47(3-4):329–407, 2001.
- [17] Jonathan Hanselman, Jacob Rasmussen, Sarah Dean Rasmussen, and Liam Watson. L-spaces, taut foliations, and graph manifolds. *Compos. Math.*, 156(3):604– 612, 2020.
- [18] Christopher Herald and Xingru Zhang. A note on orderability and Dehn filling. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 147(7):2815–2819, 2019.
- [19] Michael Heusener and Joan Porti. The variety of characters in PSL<sub>2</sub>(ℂ). Bol. Soc. Mat. Mexicana (3), 10(Special Issue):221-237, 2004.
- [20] Michael Heusener and Joan Porti. Deformations of reducible representations of 3-manifold groups into PSL<sub>2</sub>(C). Algebr. Geom. Topol., 5:965–997, 2005.
- [21] Michael Heusener, Joan Porti, and Eva Suárez Peiró. Deformations of reducible representations of 3-manifold groups into SL<sub>2</sub>(C). J. Reine Angew. Math., 530:191–227, 2001.

- [22] Ying Hu. Left-orderability and cyclic branched coverings. Algebr. Geom. Topol., 15(1):399–413, 2015.
- [23] András Juhász. A survey of Heegaard Floer homology. In New ideas in low dimensional topology, volume 56 of Ser. Knots Everything, pages 237–296. World Sci. Publ., Hackensack, NJ, 2015.
- [24] Khanh Le. Left orderability for surgeries on the [1, 1, 2, 2, 2j] two-bridge knots.
- [25] David Mumford. Algebraic geometry. I. Classics in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1995. Complex projective varieties, Reprint of the 1976 edition.
- [26] Zipei Nie. Left-orderablity for surgeries on (-2, 3, 2s+1)-pretzel knots. Topology Appl., 261:1–6, 2019.
- [27] Peter Ozsváth and Zoltán Szabó. On knot Floer homology and lens space surgeries. *Topology*, 44(6):1281–1300, 2005.
- [28] Robert Riley. Parabolic representations of knot groups. I. Proc. London Math. Soc. (3), 24:217–242, 1972.
- [29] Anh T. Tran. On left-orderability and cyclic branched coverings. J. Math. Soc. Japan, 67(3):1169–1178, 2015.
- [30] Anh T. Tran. On left-orderable fundamental groups and Dehn surgeries on knots.
   J. Math. Soc. Japan, 67(1):319–338, 2015.
- [31] André Weil. Remarks on the cohomology of groups. Ann. of Math. (2), 80:149– 157, 1964.
- [32] Jonathan Zung. Taut foliations, left-orders, and pseudo-anosov mapping tori, 2020.